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Corporate Profile

We are one of the leading shipbuilders in the PRC, owning two controlled shipbuilding bases across the 

Yangtze River opposite each other, and producing a broad range of commercial vessels, containerships, 

mini bulk carriers, bulk carriers and multi-purpose cargo vessels.

Located in Jiangyin city in the Jiangsu province of PRC, our old shipyard spans approximately 719 metres of 

deep-water coastline and covers an area of approximately 200,000 square metres (excluding the coastal area). 

Our new shipyard is located within the Jiangyin Economic Development District in Jingjiang city, has 1,200 

metres of deep-water coastline, a production area of 793,000 square metres and a dry dock that is able to 

accommodate two 100,000 DWT vessels. 
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Production Planning and
Procurement

Our Vessels

Containerships

Containerships are used to carry all forms of general cargo that can be 

containerised. The carrying capacity of a containership is typically expressed in 

terms of twenty-foot equivalent units (“TEU”), which is equal to the size of a 

modular container.

Dry Bulk Carriers

Dry bulk carriers transport major and minor dry bulk cargoes such as iron ore, 

coal and grain. These vessels are also classified according to DWT.

Multi-purpose Cargo Vessels

Multi-purpose cargo vessels are designed to handle and freight different types of 

mixed cargo such as containers, reefer containers, project cargo, heavy lift cargo, 

pipes, grain, bulk cargo and dangerous goods. They are sometimes referred to as 

mini bulkers depending on the cargo they carry.

Construction Process

Vessel Subassemblies and
Structural Sections

Keel-laying and Assembly

Launching

Outfitting and
Commissioning

Testing and Sea Trial

Delivery

Quality control
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Our Milestones

1956: We commenced operations as a wholly state-owned enterprise with a paid-up capital of RMB196,800 and were 
engaged in the construction of wooden vessels.

1968: We built our first steel cargo carrier.

1975: We relocated to Jiangyin city, PRC, to gain direct access to the deep-water coastline along the Yangtze River to 
expand our production facilities.

1977: We built a steel cargo carrier of approximately 1,000 tons with our expanded production capacity.

1984: We produced our first car ferry.

1987: We produced and exported a 146-foot multi-purpose cargo carrier to Hong Kong. We continued to expand our 
operations and sourced for business opportunities within and outside PRC.

1993: We obtained our import and export operating rights and became one of the major exporting shipbuilders in the 
Jiangsu province.

1996: We constructed our first containership that we exported to Hong Kong. We also obtained a contract for the 
construction of vessels for delivery to Germany.

1998: We completed and delivered the vessels to Germany. This was a significant milestone for us as our vessels complied 
with specific standards required by European shipowners and provided us a track record to attract additional customers.

1999: We ceased being a wholly state-owned enterprise as a result of a management buyout when certain employees, 
including our Executive Chairman and Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. (“JYS”) Labour Union, acquired in 
aggregate 70.0% of our shareholding interest. The Jiangyin Traffic Bureau continued to hold the remaining 30.0% 
shareholding interest until 2002.

2001: We constructed cargo carriers with a combined weight of 38,000 DWT for export to Germany. In the same year, we 
upgraded our facilities by procuring additional hoisting equipment and an additional dock, and continued to increase the 
delivery of our vessels to Germany.

2002: We delivered a 1,180 TEU reefer containership.

2000 to 2004: We restructured our Group and some of our shareholders injected additional capital to fund our growth.

2005: We established Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd. (“JNYS”) to construct and operate our new shipyard for 
our future expansion.

21 December 2005: We were incorporated in Singapore under the Singapore Companies Act as a private limited 
company under the name Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Pte. Ltd.

15 March 2007: We were converted to a public limited company and changed our name to Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd.

22 March 2007: We received all the construction licences required under PRC law for the construction of our New Shipyard.

18 April 2007: Our shares were listed on the mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

June 2007: Completion of the construction of our new shipyard.

12 November 2007: We successfully launched two 2,500 TEU containerships from the newly constructed dry dock located 
in our new yard. 
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Our Presence & Our Shipyards

We believe that we are the second largest non-state-

owned shipbuilder in the growing PRC shipbuilding 

industry, both in terms of manufacturing capability as 

well as manufacturing capacity. In the mid-1990s, we 

were amongst the first PRC shipbuilders to develop 

the capability of building mid-size containerships with 

a loading capacity of up to 2,500 TEU and vessels of up 

to 55,000 DWT. To date, we have delivered more than 

60 containerships with loading capacities of between 

1,000 and 2,500 TEU to various shipowners globally and 

have progressively undertaken the construction of larger 

containerships with loading capacities in excess of 2,500 

TEU and bulk carriers in excess of 13,000 DWT.

We operate two yards, through our subsidiary, JYS (the 

“Old Yard”) and JNYS (the “New Yard”). Our Old Yard is 

located on the Yangtze River upstream from the Jiangyin 

Changjiang Bridge in Jiangyin city, PRC. Our New Yard 

is located on the northern bank of the Yangtze River 

and within the Jiangyin Economic Development District 

in Jingjiang city, PRC. Our wholly-owned subsidiary, 

Jiangsu Runzhou Ship Accessories Co., Ltd in Jingjiang 

city, has a production area of 280,900 square metres next 

to our new shipyard.

New yard completed in June 2007

4 vessels launched in the yard in 2007

2.0 million CGT in existing yards, which is expected to 
increase with the investments in new yards
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Chairman’s Statement

The Group handed a sterling performance in 
its maiden year, turnover grew by 66% reaching 
RMB3.86 billion and turning in an attributable 
profit of RMB869.5 million. This is an increase of 
91% over the previous year on the back of improved 
contributions from both of our yards. We ended the 
year with a strong balance sheet and a net cash 
position. Our strong liquidity position will enable 
us to seize any growth opportunities that may be 
presented to us.

Dear Shareholders
2007 has been a year of several milestones for Yangzijiang. With the 
support of our shareholders and our business partners, we managed 
to achieve record revenues and profitability, on the back of a 
buoyant shipping and maritime industry. We were also pleased to be 
successfully listed on the mainboard of the SGX-ST on 18 April, 2007 
and honoured to have Yangzijiang selected as a component stock of 
the Straits Times Index from 10 January 2008 onwards. 

The Group handed a sterling performance in its maiden year, 
turnover grew by 66% reaching RMB3.86 billion and turning in an 
attributable profit of RMB869.5 million. This is an increase of 91% 
over the previous year on the back of improved contributions from 
both of our yards. We ended the year with a strong balance sheet 
and a net cash position. Our strong liquidity position will enable us 
to seize any growth opportunities that may be presented to us.

Following this good performance, the Board is pleased to recommend a 
proposed dividend of SGD1.565 cents per share, representing a dividend 
payout ratio of 30% of our Group’s attributable profit for FY2007.

Our core business in review 
The buoyant shipbuilding market in 2007 provided a healthy backdrop 
for our business activities, albeit in an environment challenged with 
rising commodity prices and an appreciating Renminbi. Last year, 
global shipbuilders secured orders of 79.2 million CGT with Chinese 
shipbuilders attributing to 36.87% of the market share. We are now 
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the second largest non-state-owned shipbuilding group 
and the fourth largest shipbuilder in China.

As of 31st December, 2007, we have an order book of 
approximately US$7 billion which is slated for completion 
and delivery till first half of 2012, of which contracts 
secured in 2007 amounted to US$5 billion.

On the operational front, Yangzijiang has successfully 
delivered 16 vessels in 2007 of which 4 vessels were 
constructed in our new yard. Operating at our expanded 
capacity, this will be instrumental in ensuring our continual 
growth. While the Group continues with the capacity 
expansion plans, the Board and management will take all 
necessary steps to ensure such expansion plans are properly 
executed and our production standards are maintained.

Our commitment
Amidst short-term volatility in the global financial 
markets, we are mindful to remain composed and 
vigilant to risks while retaining our flexibility and 
responsiveness to market trends and industry changes. 
We remain focused and are committed to continue 
developing our core strengths to enhance the Group’s 
profitability. We will also continue to explore various 
opportunities to improve our return on equity and to 
maximise shareholder’s value. 

Heartfelt appreciation
On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend our 
warmest welcome to Mr Wang Jiansheng, who joined 
us as the general manager of the new shipyard since 
1st January 2008. We are confident that Mr Wang’s 
extensive experience will further strengthen our 
management team’s overall capabilities, particularly in 
the area of production and operations.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our 
Shareholders for their unwavering support during the 
year.  I would also like to express my deepest gratitude 
to the Board of Directors for their invaluable advice and 
commitment.

The Board and I would also like to express our most 
sincere appreciation to the management, staff and Union 
for their contributions to the growth and profitability of 
the Group. Last but not least, I would like to thank our 
customers and business partners for their continued 
support and confidence in Yangzijiang.

Yours sincerely,

Ren Yuanlin
Executive Chairman
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主席致辞

2007年是扬子江发展历史上具有重要里程碑意

义的一年，是继往开来的一年。在各位股东的

支持和新加坡交易所的关爱下，扬子江于07年

4月18日顺利挂牌上市，并从08年元月10日起列

入新加坡海峡时报指数成份股。

在此，我非常高兴的宣布：集团的营业额在

2007财年猛涨66%，达到38.6亿元人民币历史新

高；集团可归股东盈利上升91%，达8.69亿元人

民币。2007财政年度健康强劲的财务表现也为

我们未来的机会和发展奠定了坚实的基础。

我们对股东所给予的支持感到鼓舞，并将努力

为他们创造更大的价值。为了表示感激，董事

会建议给予股东股息每股新加坡元1.565分，占

集团在2007财年可归股东盈利的30%。

基于07年的船市继续繁荣火爆，扬子江抓住有利

机会继续加快发展，并成功争取到更多造船订

单。2007年全球新接造船订单7920万CGT，其中

中国占世界市场份额的36.87%；扬子江已经成功

成为中国领先的造船专业公司，私营造船集团规

模名列中国第2位，造船规模位跃居中国第4位。

截至2007年12月31日，集团手持订单达69亿美

元，生产任务接至2012年6月份，其中2007年的

新增订单50亿美元。

集团2007年完工交付船舶16艘，其中新厂实现

了4艘船出坞的骄人成绩，随着集团产能的不断

扩大，我们也致力于严格的质量把关，以确保

经营业绩的长期稳定增长。

虽然目前的股市不尽如人意，但公司优良的业

绩让我们振奋。作为董事长，我时刻提醒自己

要努力保持公司业绩的稳定增长，对未来发展

保持冷静，未雨绸缪，采取措施以应对未来可

能出现的行业市场调整。优秀的交船记录和骄

人的财务业绩，依赖于我们强有力的管理。我

们将在接下来的日子抓住每一个机会，加快技

集团的营业额在2007财年猛涨66%，达

到38.6亿元人民币历史新高；集团可归

股东盈利上升91%，达8.69亿元人民币。

2007财政年度健康强劲的财务表现也为我

们未来的机会和发展奠定了坚实的基础。

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. and its Subsidiaries  Annual Report 2007



07

术工艺进步，建立现代造船模式，加大资本投入，解决造船生

产能力瓶颈，不断扩大新厂的产能；引进培养人才，加强资源

整合，进一步提升集团综合竞争力；最大程度地积累股东利

益，增加公司价值，在未来几年保持快速发展。

我要借此感谢董事会对集团的贡献。我也欢迎刚被委任为新厂

总经理的王建生先生加入我们集团，王建生先生将全面负责新

厂的管理工作，并侧重于生产经营管理。

我也要对集团的客户及商业伙伴，在集团增长过程中所给予

的支持致上最衷心的感谢。我也感谢管理层及员工这一年来

的不懈努力。最重要的是，我要感激我们的股东所给予的信

任和支持。 

任元林
董事长
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Order Book
STRONG
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New order in 2007 USD5.0 billion, 
equivalent to 2.1 million CGT, 107 vessels

Backlog USD6.9 billion as at 31 December 2007, 
equivalent to 3.0 million CGT, 158 vessels 

Vessels built in 2007 USD400 million, 
equivalent to 0.2 million CGT, 16 vessels
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Operations Review

Sustaining prosperity through fusion of sound 

operational and capital management 

2007 (“FY2007”) marked a milestone in the development of 

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. (“Yangzijiang”, 

the “Company” or the “Group”) where it built on its past 

experience while embracing the future. In the spirit of 

“loyalty, professionalism, precision and efficiency”, its 

employees banded together and successfully met the 

Group’s targets for the year. Taking stock of the past 

year, the Group’s achievements were manifested in the 

following areas. 

I. Surpassed main technical and economic 

performance indicators 

In FY2007, the Group registered a 66% increase in revenue 

compared to the preceding year, to RMB3.855 billion, 

which represented 128.47% of the planned annual target. 

Total profit before tax grew 90.88% to RMB990 million. 

RMB859.7 million profit after tax represented 171.80% of 

the planned annual target. 

II. Satisfactorily realised all production goals 

1. Old shipyard

The old shipyard’s Production Department implemented  

strategies to strike a balance between materials 

preparation and meeting requirements at each stage 

of production through reducing internal production for 

small blocks, that allows more adjustments made to the 

production site, improving hoisting capacity, optimising 

workshop facilities, streamlining production bottlenecks 

and increasing overall capacity. Through these means, 

the team satisfactorily completed the annual production 

goals for the year. 

Specifically, the old shipyard delivered 16 ships in 

FY2007, with an improvement in quality. The total annual 

shipbuilding capacity reached 302,200 DWT, or 202,300 

DWT in terms of combined tonnage, up by 20.91% 

compared with the previous year. Construction of 16 ships 

started during the year. 13 ships were berthed, while 14 

were launched. 

Shipbuilding cycles were also shortened significantly. At 

Building Berth No. 1, the hull erection period (also known 

as “bed time”) was shortened to 70 days for 1574 series 

vessels and 73 days for 1350 series vessels; at Building 

Berth No. 2, the time was shortened to 67 days for 13000 

series vessels and 40 days for 7600 series vessels; and at 
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Building Berth No. 5, the time was shortened to 88 days for 

2500 series vessels.

In terms of the time to launching cycle, including finishing 

and outfitting, it was shortened to 74 days for 7600 series 

vessels, 93 days for 1350 series vessels, 119 days for 1574 

series vessels, and 119 days for 2500 series vessels. 

In particular, for one of our 7600 series vessels, the 

combined bed time and launching cycle totaled 114 days, 

six days earlier than the target duration set by the Group. 

2. New shipyard

In order to achieve the goal of “shipyard construction to vessel 

delivery in two years”, the management at the new shipyard 

followed the principle of “building ships while constructing 

shipyards” and successfully overcame difficulties in 

manpower shortage and stretched management capacity to 

accomplish the goal. The shipyard started trial production 

at the beginning of FY2007 and had gradually gone into full 

scale production. Four vessels were undocked within the 

year, fulfilling the whole year target for completion of a 

major phase of production. 

In FY2007, the new shipyard commenced the construction 

of 12 ships. Eight vessels were docked and four were 

undocked. The hull erection period of the last two 2500 

series vessels was shortened by 33 days, indicating the 

increasing progress in production at the new shipyard. 

III. Breakthrough in capital management

1. Success in going public 

With the support of governmental departments at all 

levels, the careful planning  of various intermediaries and 

the concerted efforts of the whole Group, the Company 

was successfully listed on the mainboard of the Singapore 

Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on 18 

April, 2007. A total of 3.3 billion shares were issued at the 

initial public offering (“IPO”), of which 1.142 billion shares 

were subscribed by the public at the issue price of S$0.95 

per share. About RMB3.2 billion were raised from the IPO. 

From 10 January, 2008, the Company’s stock was included 

as a component stock of the Straits Times Index. It was 

one out of three indexed stocks to be included among the 

130-odd Chinese enterprises listed on SGX-ST. 

2. Actively implement capital reorganisation, take full 

advantage of government policies

During the year, the Group actively carried out capital 

reorganisation and studied in-depth relevant policies. It 

completed the formalities for converting the new shipyard 

to a joint venture enterprise before the promulgation of the 

new Enterprise Income Tax Law, thus enabling it to fully 

enjoy the preferential income tax policy of “exemption for 

two years and reduction by half for the following three 

years”. The restructuring will translate into additional tax 

savings to our shareholders. 

3. Organising the Group

In a move to adopt modern corporate management 

systems, integrate management resources and strengthen 

the core business of shipbuilding, the Group implemented 

the development strategy of “Diversifying development 

with shipbuilding as core business”, to develop into a 

large enterprise group that encompasses shipbuilding, 

steel fabrication, ship design, labour supply and import-

export trade, among others.   

IV. New shipyard forges ahead 

Following the example of the Production Department, the 

Corporate Development Department also strengthened its 

progress and quality management, instituted cost controls 

and streamlined administrative processes to enable the 

new shipyard to speedily move into full production.

Faced with the challenges posed by government 

regulation at a macro level and the tightening of land 

allocation, the Group made active efforts to gain strong 

support from the government at various levels in order to 

obtain land use rights for ongoing construction projects.
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Operations Review

Phase I projects for FY2007 were mostly those nearing 

completion. With the exception of the 19-storey office 

building, which was still under renovation and expected 

to be completed in March 2008, all other projects had 

been delivered and put into operation. This sets a solid 

foundation for putting the new shipyard into service as 

scheduled. 

V. Uncovering new prospects through materials 

management

1. Achievements in operations

In FY2007, the Group, seized the favorable opportunity 

offered by the steadily growing shipbuilding market 

and its listing and yielded great results. It received 

orders to build 107 new vessels for the full year at a 

total value of US$4.975 billion and a combined capacity 

of 2.07 million DWT. Its clients now include large 

shipping groups from Italy, Norway, Greece, as well as 

China. Meanwhile, the Group’s Operations Department 

and Treasury Department joined efforts to obtain bank 

guarantees to validate the contracts, and ensure the 

projects for the new shipyard and the old shipyard 

would be realised by the first half of 2012.

2. Managing materials for quality and quantity assurance  

In FY2007, the Group formed a strategic partnership with 

Xinyu Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. of Jiangxi and Xiangtan Iron 

& Steel Co., Ltd. of Hunan to pave the way for the supply 

of wide and heavy plates for the building of 4250 series 

vessels and 92500 series vessels in the new shipyard. 

Through advance payments, the supplies and prices 

of cables, lighting equipment, valves, flat-bulb steel 

were secured. The Group also took proactive measures 

to secure the import of key equipment, and accelerate 

custom clearance to satisfy production demands. The total 

amount of various equipment and materials procured by 

the Goods and Materials Department reached RMB1.545 

billion for the whole year. 

VI. Pursuing development of new products and 

technical innovation

1. Results showing from new product development 

Vessels 4250 TEU, 92500 DWT and 12600 DWT are new 

models produced by the Group in batches in FY2008. In 

FY2007, the Group acquired Shanghai Henggao Ships 

Design Co., Ltd. (“SHSD”). With the design team, it 

overcame shortcomings such as long design cycles 

and poor quality of technical drawings, among others. 

The team analysed experiences of advanced shipyards 

in South Korea and China as well as the production 

processes of both old and new shipyards to complete 

the main production design of the new models, which 

provided the technical assurance for batch production. 

2. Enhancing production design, improving processing 

techniques

Investing in SHSD will bring us the state-of-art technology in 

ship design in reducing fuel and raw material wastage; the 

design team emphasised daily innovations in technology 

and craftwork to ensure production efficiency and product 

quality. These were achieved through optimisation of the 

main-hoisting, shortening lifting and assembly cycles 

and applying new cleaning techniques for oil piping to 

all vessels. Furthermore, adjustments were made to the 

structure of the technical team and technical systems were 

established for workshops; technological improvements 

and project development were refined to raise technical 

standards. The team also enhanced  production design to 

increase the utilisation rate of steel materials. The utilisation 

rate of first cutting of steel reached 87%, while the overall 

utilisation rate reached 91%.

3. Application of UFIDA Finance Software 

In line with the move to integrate finance and materials 

resources, the Group adopted the use of the UFIDA 

Finance Software to computerise financial accounting 

and management of materials. These greatly improved 
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the accuracy and timeliness of the data, as well as the 

efficiency of IT application and management functions. 

This set the stage for the Group to automate and 

computerise administrative functions in the future.

VII. Significant results in talent management 

1. Emphasis on attracting high-quality personnel

Under the auspices of being a public-listed enterprise, 

the Human Resources Centre had grown the pool of 

talents for the Group. In 2007, a total of five managerial 

personnel at the departmental level, five middle 

management personnel, 950 college graduates and 280 

technical workers were recruited by the Group. The boost 

to its human resources would form the foundation for the 

Group in meeting the demands of the business in the 

years ahead and implement its development strategies, 

in addition to establishing a talent bank and incentive 

mechanism.

2. Adopting pro-active measures to stabilise and expand 

manpower strength

The stability of its manpower resources played a crucial 

role in the completion of the Group’s projects. For the 

Group, FY2007 was a year of expansion in terms of 

production capacity. As such, it established the Jiangyin 

Yangchuan Labor Supply Co., Ltd. to reinforce its 

manpower strength and centralise the management of 

its manpower resources. To ensure the availability and 

expansion of its labour force, the Group employed over 

6,000 new workers over the past year and introduced 

a series of measures to enable them to enjoy the same 

benefits as the regular workers. 

VIII. Standardisation and efficiency in financial 

management

1. Honouring bank guarantees, strengthening foreign 

exchange risk management

The Group’s Treasury Department actively obtained 

bank guarantees in a timely manner on new orders for 

ship building as a measure to minimise its exposure to 

any foreign exchange loss caused by appreciation of the 

Renminbi. 

 

2. Refining financial management, establishing internal 

control

In accordance with the requirements for listed companies, 

the Group’s Internal Audlt Department had integrated the 

financial management process with its internal control 

systems. The Group had also engaged an external auditor 

to conduct a full review of the Group’s internal control 

and accounting systems so as to further strengthen 

the Group’s internal control system to safeguard our 

company assets and to ensure reliability and integrity of 

information.

With the production capacity at the new shipyard gradually 

going into operation, the Group would accelerate its inter-

disciplinary development. Difficulties and obstacles would 

surface, but when facing opportunities and challenges, 

staff of the Group would remain united and rise to the 

challenge, giving their best to make the Yangzijiang 

Shipbuilding Group a leading enterprise in the world’s 

shipbuilding industry. 

February 5, 2008
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Financial Highlights
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Gross Profit

Solid Revenue Growth
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+2.8%
Net Profit Margin

Operating Cashflow Cash and Cash Equivalent
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Per Share

  2007 2006

Ordinary Dividends SGD 1.565 cents             -

Earnings RMB 28.2 cents RMB 18.1 cents

Net Tangible Assets RMB 126.61 cents RMB 114.91 cents

+78.3%
Gross Profit

Strong Financial Position
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Mr Ren was appointed a Director of the Company on 13 January 2006 and Chairman on 18 March 2007. He was last 

re-elected on 19 March 2007. He is the founder of the Group and is currently responsible for the overall management 

and operations of the Group. He is also the Chairman of the Board of Directors of JYS. Mr Ren has over 30 years of 

experience in the shipbuilding industry, and has worked within the Group and the Group’s predecessors in various 

positions since the 1970s. In 1973, Mr Ren joined Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory as a worker involved in cold works. 

From 1976 to 1982, he held the positions of vice-head and head of the ship body workshop. From 1982 to 1984, he was 

the department head of the process technology department. From 1984 to 1985, he held the position of Assistant 

Shipbuilding Supervisor. During the period between 1985 and 1997, inclusive of the time when Jiangyin Shipbuilding 

Factory was changed to Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory, he concurrently held the positions of Assistant 

Factory Supervisor and Supervisor of a shipbuilding subfactory. From 1997, Mr Ren has held the concurrent positions 

of Factory Supervisor and Chairman of the board of directors in Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory (which has 

since been changed into Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (“JYS”) in 1999). Mr Ren has also been appointed as 

a secretary to the central branch of the Communist Party of China since 1997. Mr Ren was awarded the Outstanding 

Factory Supervisor (Management) award（优秀厂长（经理））for two consecutive years by the Jiangyin Municipal 

Commission of Communist Party, People’s Government of Jiangyin Municipality in 2000 and 2001. He also holds a 

Diploma in Economics from Jiangsu Television Broadcasting University（江苏广播电视大学）which he was conferred 

in 1986.

Mr Wang was appointed a Director of the Company on 18 March 2007 and last re-elected on 19 March 2007. Mr Wang 

has nearly 30 years of experience in the shipbuilding industry. He first joined Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory in 1977 as 

a workshop welder. Thereafter in 1985, he was transferred to the administrative management department. In 1988, he 

was promoted to the position of Assistant Sales Supervisor of Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory. Between 1992 and 1997, 

he held the position of assistant factory supervisor of Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory (which was changed to Jiangsu 

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory in 1992), where he was in charge of the daily operations of the factory. Thereafter, 

he became the Deputy General Manager of Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Factory (which has since been changed 

to JYS in 1999), a position which he still holds today, and he is one of the personnel in charge of the sales and 

procurement of materials for the shipbuilding processes. Mr Wang holds a high school certificate from Jiangyin city 

High School（江阴市高级中学）which he was conferred in 1975.

Wang Dong
Executive Director and Marketing and Procurement Manager Aged 49, PRC

Board of Directors
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Ren Yuanlin
Executive Chairman Aged 54, PRC
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Mr Xiang was appointed a Director of the Company on 18 March 2007 and last re-elected on 19 March 2007. Mr Xiang 

has more than 25 years of experience in the shipbuilding industry. He joined Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory in 1978, 

and worked in the workshop for about a year. In May 1979, he became a Loftsman, and since then, he has worked 

in various positions within Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory (which was changed to Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding 

Factory in 1992 and finally JYS in 1999). He was promoted to Production Process Department Section Head in 1985. 

From January 1992 to December 1994, Mr Xiang was the Technical Department Section Head of Jiangsu Yangzijiang 

Shipbuilding Factory. Between 1995 and 1998, he served in various positions including the Head of the Production 

Process, Technical Quality Control Department and Assistant Shipyard Supervisor of Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding 

Factory. In January 1999, he became the Deputy Shipyard Supervisor of JYS. From December 1999 till present, he has 

been the Deputy General Manager of JYS and was also appointed in May 2005, the Deputy General Manager of JNYS. 

Mr Xiang holds a Diploma in Ship Engineering from Wuhan School of Transport by Water（武汉水运学院）which was 

conferred in 1991.

Mr Teo was appointed a Director of the Company on 26 July 2006 and last re-elected on 19 March 2007. Mr Teo is an 

Investment Partner with SEAVI Advent Corporation Ltd, the Asian affiliate of Boston-based Advent International 

private equity group. He manages direct investments in China and South East Asia, and focuses on the electronics, 

chemical, engineering and technology segments. Prior to joining SEAVI Advent, he was with Keppel Corporation 

Ltd., conducting business development activities for Keppel’s marine and offshore businesses. Mr. Teo started his 

career as an Engineer in SGS-Thomson Microelectronics. Mr. Teo holds two Masters’ degrees; Master of Science 

Degree in Industrial and Systems Engineering (1998) and Master of Science Degree in Applied Finance (2000) 

from the National University of Singapore. He graduated from the same university with a Bachelor of Electrical 

Engineering (Honours) in 1996. He was awarded the Chartered Financial Analyst by the Association for Investment 

Management and Research in 2001.
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Xiang Jianjun
Executive Director and Production Manager Aged 48, PRC

Teo Yi-dar
Non-Executive Director Aged 36, Singaporean
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Mr Ong was appointed a Director of the Company on 18 March 2007 and last re-elected on 19 March 2007. He is 

currently a partner of Rajah & Tann, a firm of advocates and solicitors in Singapore and has been with the firm 

since May 2002. From 1998 to 2001, Raymond Ong was an Associate Lawyer at Colin Ng & Partners. Prior to that, 

he was practicing at Joseph Tan Jude Benny & Scott between 1997 and 1998 and Chong Yeo & Partners between 

1996 and 1997. He graduated from the National University of Singapore with a Bachelor of Law Degree in 1995 

and was admitted as an Advocate and Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Singapore in 1996. His main area 

of practice is in litigation and international arbitration in commercial, banking, transportation and shipping 

matters. In particular, he represents shipyards and shipowners in building and repair, negotiations and disputes 

in Singapore, China and the region.

Mr Teo was appointed a Director of the Company on 18 March 2007 and last re-elected on 19 March 2007. He is 

currently a director of Vive Capital Pte. Ltd., where he is involved in investment-related work. Between March 2006 

and January 2007, he was the Chief Corporate Officer of RichLand Group Limited, where he oversaw the finance, 

business development, mergers and acquisition activities as well as the corporate affairs of RichLand Group Limited. 

From 2005 to 2006, Mr Teo was the Managing Director of Global Business Insights Pte Ltd. From 1994 to 2005, Mr 

Teo also held various senior management positions in leading organisations such as GKE International Limited, 

Transworld Carnival Corporation, SESAMi Inc, System Access Limited, Credit Suisse and Veno Technologies (S) 

Pte Ltd. From 1990 to 1993, Mr Teo was the Senior Investment Officer with Government of Singapore Investment 

Corporation Private Limited. From 1983 to 1989, he was the Head of Business Consulting Division in Arthur Andersen 

Associates. Mr Teo was the Executive Vice President of GKE International and was responsible for mergers and 

acquisitions and business development for the logistics company. He handled many of the mergers and acquisitions 

activities, implementation of business development plans in locations such as China, Malaysia and the Middle 

East. Mr Teo was the Chief Executive Officer of Transworld Carnival Corporation. His responsibility included the 

execution of the company’s mobile amusement fairs. Mr Teo also held the positions of Senior Vice President in 

corporate development and Chief Financial Officer in SESAMi Inc., and System Access Limited. He oversaw all the 

financial functions of the respective companies including financial planning and analysis, financial control, business 

opportunities and investments. Mr Teo graduated from the National University of Singapore in 1983 with a Bachelor 

of Accountancy (Honours) and obtained a Post-Graduate Diploma in Business Administration jointly awarded by the 

University of Manchester and University of Wales in 2001. He has been a CPA member of the Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants of Singapore since 1989 and was admitted as a Fellow of ICPAS in 2004.

Ong Sie Hou Raymond
Lead Independent Director Aged 37, Singaporean

Teo Moh Gin
Independent Director Aged 49, Singaporean
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Cao Zhiteng
General Manager Aged 50, PRC

His responsibilities include exercising the powers as the Group’s general manager. In particular, he is engaged in the 
management’s decision making in managing the Company, financial management and the motivation, supervision and 
inspection at the operations level. Mr Cao has more than 20 years of experience in the shipbuilding industry. After his 
graduation from Shanghai Jiaotong University in 1982, he joined Hudong-Zhonghua Shipbuilding (Group) Co., Ltd., a 
shipbuilding enterprise in the PRC, where he spent more than 20 years working in various appointments until February 
2003. He started as an Assistant Engineer and other appointments held include, among others, the Assistant Manager of 
the Design Department, Assistant Chief Engineer and finally the Assistant General Manager before he left the company. 
As a result of his various appointments, he is familiar with the production aspects as well as the product management 
aspects of the shipbuilding industry. Thereafter, he joined China Shipbuilding Trading Co., Ltd., in February 2003 as its 
Deputy General Manager and held the position until he joined the Group in February 2007. Mr Cao graduated from Shanghai 
Jiaotong University in 1988 with a Bachelor’s Degree in Ship and Offshore Engineering. In 1998, he was accredited as a Senior 
Engineer (Researcher level) by China State Shipbuilding Head Company（中国船舶工业总公司）and in 2000, he further 
obtained a Master of Business Administration from Shanghai Jiaotong University.

Mr Wang was appointed as General Manager of Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd on 1 January 2008.  He is 
responsible for the administration of Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.  He has more than 20 years of experience 
in the shipping industry.  Prior to joining the Group, between 2004 and 2007 Mr Wang was the Vice President of Shanghai 
Waigaoqiao Shipbuilding Co., Ltd.（上海外高桥造船有限公司）, and is responsible for the management of manufacturing.  
He joined Shanghai Shipyard Co. Ltd（上海船厂）in 1982 as Assistant Manager in the workshop and was promoted to 
Vice General Manager in 1997. Mr Wang holds a Diploma from Wuhan University of Technology（武汉理工大学）which 
he was conferred in 1982.

Mr Du has more than 10 years of experience in the shipbuilding industry. In July 1991, he started as a trainee in 
the turbine workshop of the then Jiangyin Shipbuilding Factory. In July 1992, he became a technician in the same 
workshop where he held the position till December 1996. During the period between January 1997 and December 
2001, he worked as a construction staff in the Production Department of JYS. In January 2002, he was promoted to the 
position of Deputy Head of Engineering Department of JYS and served in the position till December 2004. Thereafter, 
between January 2005 and December 2005, he held concurrent positions as Assistant General Manager cum Head 
of Technical Preparation Department. From January 2006, he has been the Deputy General Manager and Head of 
Quality Control Department in JYS and JNYS, where he is also responsible for the technical and quality aspects 
of the operations in JYS and JNYS. Mr Du holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Mathematics and Engineering from Harbin 
Shipbuilding Engineering Institute（哈尔滨船舶工程学院）which he was conferred in 1991. He was accredited as an 
Engineer by the Wuxi City Human Resource Bureau（无锡市人事局）in 1998.

Senior Management

Wang Jiansheng
General Manager Aged 52, PRC
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Du Chengzhong
Design and Technical Manager Aged 40, PRC
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The Board of Directors is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance to protect the interests 
of shareholders and to promote investors’ confi dence and supports. This report set out the Company’s corporate 
governance processes and activities with specifi c references to the guidelines of the Code of Corporate Governance 
2005 (the “Code”).  

(A) BOARD MATTERS

 Board of Directors

 Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

 The Group is led and controlled by an effective Board that has the overall responsibility for corporate 
governance, strategic direction, overseeing the investments, operations, and internal controls, fi nancial 
reporting and compliance of the Group and approving the nominations of Board of Directors. 

 The Board’s approval is required for matters such as corporate restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, 
major investments and divestments, material acquisitions and disposal of assets and release of the Group’s 
quarterly results, half-year results and full-year results.

 The Board has also established and delegated specifi c authority to the Audit Committee, Nominating 
Committee and Remuneration Committee.   Each of the Board Committees functions within its terms of 
reference.

 The Board meets at least 4 times a year, with additional meetings convened when circumstances require. The 
Company’s Articles of Association provide for meetings to be held via telephone conference or other methods 
of simultaneous communication by electronic or telegraphic means. 

 The Directors’ attendance at the meetings of the Board and Board Committees during the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2007 is shown below:

Name of
Directors

Board of Directors
No. of meeting

Audit Committee
No. of meeting

Nominating 
Committee

No. of meeting

Remuneration 
Committee

No. of meeting
Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

Ren Yuanlin 4 4 – – – – – –
Wang Dong 4 3 – – – – – –
Xiang Jianjun 4 2 – – – –
Teo Moh Gin 4 4 3 3 0 0 1 1
Ong Sie Hou Raymond 4 3 3 3 0 0 1 1
Teo Yi-dar 4 4 3 3 0 0 1 1

 Currently, the Company does not have a formal training programme for new Directors. However, to assist the 
Directors in discharging their duties, where necessary the Directors will be updated of any new legislations, 
rules and/or regulations relevant to the Group.

 Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance

 The Board comprises six Directors of whom two are independent Directors, one is non-executive Director 
and three are executive Directors. The Directors bring with them a broad range of business and fi nancial 
experience, skills and expertise in fi nance, legal, industry, business and management and general corporate 
matters. Their profi les are set out on pages 16 to 18 of this Annual Report.

 The size and composition of the Board are reviewed annually by the Nominating Committee (“NC”), taking into 
account the scope and nature of operations of the Company, to ensure that the size of the Board is appropriate 
to facilitate effective decision-making, and that the Board has an appropriate balance of independent 
Directors.  The NC is of the view that the current Board size is appropriate for the Group’s present scope 
of operations. Further, no individual or small group of individuals dominates the Board’s decision making 
process. 
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 Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

 The Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer (“CEO”) of the Company is Ren Yuanlin. He is responsible to the 
Board for corporate directions and operational effi ciency, development and review of the Group’s policies and 
strategies, and ensuring a cohesive working relationship among the Directors, and timeliness of information 
fl ow between the Board and management. 

 The Board is of the view that it is not necessary to separate the role of Chairman and CEO given the present 
Group corporate structure, scope of operations and the presence of two independent and non-executive 
Directors who have demonstrated commitment in their roles as Directors. The Board has appointed Ong Sie 
Hou Raymond to be the lead independent Director.

 The Chairman schedules the meeting and sets the meeting agenda of the Board, and reviews the Board 
papers before they are presented to the Board. In addition, the Chairman also assists to ensure the Company’s 
compliance with the Code. 

 Principle 4 – 5: Board Membership and Board Performance

 Nominating Committee (“NC”)

 The NC comprises the following Directors:

 Ong Sie Hou Raymond (Chairman)
 Teo Moh Gin 
 Teo Yi-dar 

 Two of the NC members, including the Chairman of the NC, are independent non-executive Directors. The 
other member is a non-executive Director.

 The NC performs the following functions in accordance with its terms of reference:

 a) Review and recommend to the Board on all Board appointments and re-appointment of Directors. 

 b) Review the Board structure, size and composition regularly. 

 c) Determine the independence of Directors annually (taking into account the circumstances set out in the 
Code and other salient factors). 

 d) To assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the Committees of the Board and the 
contribution of each individual Director to an effective Board. 

 The Board, through the NC, reviews annually the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its required mix 
of skills and experience and other qualities, including core competencies, which Directors should bring to the 
Board. 

 The Board, on the recommendation of the NC, appoints new Directors. All new Directors who are appointed 
by the Board are subject to re-election at the next Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”). In addition, pursuant 
to the Company’s Articles of Association, one third of the Directors other than the Managing Director, are 
required to retire by rotation at each AGM.

 The NC meets at least once a year. Additional meetings are scheduled when the Chairman of the NC 
considers it necessary. The Company Secretary or his/her representative is the secretary to the NC.

 The Board has established a formal assessment process which will be carried out annually for evaluation of 
the performance of the Board and individual Directors on the basis of the following performance criteria:

  Attendance at Board meetings;

  Level of participation at Board meetings and overall commitment;

  Ability to strategise and propose sound business direction; and

  Contribution of specialised knowledge.
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 The appraisal process requires the Directors to complete appraisal forms which will be collated by an 
independent coordinator who will compile the results of the appraisal for review by the NC. The NC will 
thereafter report to the Board.

 Principle 6: Access to Information

 All Directors have access to the Company’s senior management, including CEO, CFO and other key 
management, as well as the Group’s internal and external auditors. Wherever possible, the Directors are 
provided Board papers prior to each Board meeting. Board papers provided are, amongst others, fi nancial and 
corporation information, signifi cant operational, fi nancial and corporate issues, results and performance of 
the Company and of the Group, and management’s proposals which require the approval of the Board. Queries 
by individual Directors on circulated paper are directed to management who will respond accordingly.

 The Directors, whether as a full Board or in their individual capacity may seek independent professional 
advice in the furtherance of their duties from time to time.  The advisor so selected shall be approved by the 
Chairman and CEO and the cost of such professional advice will be borne by the Company.

 The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and Board Committees meetings and records the 
proceedings and decisions of the Board and of the Board Committees.  The Company Secretary ensures that 
the corporate secretarial aspects of procedures concerning the Board are duly complied.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS

 Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies
 Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration
 Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

 Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

 The RC comprises the following Directors:

 Ong Sie Hou Raymond (Chairman)
 Teo Moh Gin
 Teo Yi-dar

 All the NC members including the Chairman are non-executive Directors.

 The RC has adopted the terms of reference and their principal functions are as follows:

 a) Review and recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration for Directors and key executives. 

 b) Review and recommend to the Board the specifi c remuneration packages for executive Directors and 
key executives. 

 c) Review Directors’ remuneration packages annually to recommend appropriate adjustments (if 
necessary).  

 d) Approve the payment of performance bonus to certain executive Directors and executive offi cers 
pursuant to the profi t-sharing scheme of the Company.

 The RC shall meet at least once a year. Additional meetings are scheduled when the Chairman of the RC 
considers it necessary. No Director shall take part in decisions pertaining to his own remuneration. Each 
member of the RC shall abstain from voting on any resolution concerning his own remuneration. The Company 
Secretary or his/her representative is the secretary to the RC.

 None of the non-executive Directors have service agreements with the Company. The independent Directors 
are each paid a Director’s fee which is recommended by the Board. The fees are determined based on the 
level of contribution, taking into account factors such as their effort and time spent and responsibilities, and 
are subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the AGM.
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 Each Directors has a service agreement with the Company. Each service agreement is valid for an initial 
period of three years commencing 18 March 2007. The service agreement may be terminated by either the 
Company or the executive Director giving not less than six month’s notice in writing. The remuneration 
package of executive Directors and other senior management consists of the following components:

 (a) Fixed Component

  Fixed pay comprises basic salary, social security contributions, and employer’s fi xed allowances. 
Eligibility of employer’s fi xed allowances depends on the length of service.

 (b) Variable Component

  This component comprises variable bonus based on the Group’s and the individual’s performance. To 
link rewards to performance, the more senior the executive is in the Group, the higher is the percentage 
of the variable component against total compensation. 

 (c) Profi t-sharing scheme

  We have a profi t-sharing scheme which benchmarks against the Group’s audited profi t before tax, 
pursuant to which certain executive Directors and executive offi cers are each entitled, subject to the 
approval of the RC, to a shared performance bonus.

 The Board has not included an annual remuneration report in this Annual Report as the Board is of the view 
that the matters which are required to be disclosed in the annual remuneration report are already suffi ciently 
disclosed in this report and in the fi nancial statements of the Company.

 For competitive reasons, the Company is not disclosing the identity of the Directors and the breakdown of their 
remuneration. The number of Directors whose remuneration falls within the following bands is as follows:

 Directors’ Remuneration

Remuneration bands No. of Directors
 
$500,000 and above: None
$250,000 to $499,999: None
Less than $250,000: 6
Total 6

 The Company has not disclosed the remuneration of its key executives as it is not in the best interest of 
the Company and the employees to disclose such details due to the sensitive nature of such information. 
None of the employees of the Company is an immediate family member of a Director or the CEO and whose 
remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during the fi nancial year.

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

 Audit Committee (“AC”)

 To ensure that corporate governance is effectively practiced, the Directors have established self regulatory 
and monitoring mechanisms, including the establishment of the AC. The AC comprises three members, two of 
whom are independent Directors and one is a non-executive Director.

 The members of the AC at the date of this report are:

 Teo Moh Gin (Chairman)
 Ong Sie Hou Raymond
 Teo Yi-dar

 The Chairman of the AC, Teo Moh Gin, is a Certifi ed Public Accountant. All members of the AC have several 
years of experience in fi nancial management or accounting. The Board is of the view that AC has suffi cient 
fi nancial management expertise and experience to discharge the AC’s functions. 
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 The AC carried out its functions in accordance with its terms of reference, the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the 
Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. In performing their functions, the AC reviewed the following, where relevant, 
with the executive Directors and the external auditors:

 a) The audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor, results of its audit and its report on the 
weaknesses of internal accounting controls arising from the statutory audit;

 b) The audit plan of the internal auditor, results of its audit and evaluation of the Group’s systems of 
internal accounting controls;

 c) The nature and extent of the external auditors’ non-audit services to the Group, seeking to balance the 
maintenance of objectivity and value for money, as well as the assistance given by management to the 
external auditor;

 d) The signifi cant fi nancial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the intergrity of the fi nancial 
statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s fi nancial statement;

 e) The fi nancial reports of the Group, prior to the submission to the board, and assisting our Board in the 
discharge of its responsibilities on fi nancial and accounting matters; 

 f) The adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function, and the adequacy of the Group’s 
internal fi nancial controls, operational and compliance control, and risk management systems;

 g) Interested person transactions and potential confl icts of interest, if any;

 h) The hedging policies and instruments implemented by the Group;

 i) The repayment of entrusted loans to ensure that the Group’s fi nancial performance and position are not 
compromised; and

 j) Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external 
auditor.

 The AC has full access to and co-operation by the management and the external auditors have unrestricted 
access to the AC. The AC meets with the external auditors and the internal auditors, without the presence of 
the management, at least once a year. 

 Principle 10 – 11: Accountability and Audit
 Principle 12 – 13: Internal Controls and Internal Audit

 The Board, through its announcements of quarterly, half-year and full-year results, aims to provide 
shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance and prospects. 
The management provides the Board with quarterly management accounts for the Board’s review.

 The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control to 
safeguard shareholders’ investments, the Company’s assets, and the need to review the adequacy and 
integrity of those systems regularly. In establishing and reviewing the system of internal control, the Board 
recognises that the system of internal control can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against 
the risk of material misstatement or loss.

 In accordance with the scope laid out in audit plan, the external auditors carry out a review of the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls, including fi nancial, operational and compliance controls, and 
risk management in the course of their annual statutory audit.  Material non-compliance and internal control 
weaknesses noted during their audit are reported to the AC together with auditors’ recommendations.  

 The Group engaged a fi rm of Certifi ed Public Accountants (the “Internal Auditors”) to conduct a full review 
of its internal control and accounting system. The Internal Auditor’s primary line of reporting is directly 
to the Chairman of the AC. Administratively, the Internal Auditor reports to the CEO of the Company. The 
Internal Auditor reviews, identifi es and analyses the risks incurred by the Group in its activities and examines 
if there are any material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses. These will then pass to Internal 
Audit Department to monitor the implementation. The AC will oversee and monitor implementation of any 
improvements thereto.  
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 The AC, having reviewed the non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfi ed 
with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and recommends to the Board of Directors the 
nomination of the external auditors for re-appointment.

(D) COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDER

 Principle 14 : Communication with Shareholders
 Principle 15 : Greater Shareholder Participation

 The Board acknowledges the importance of regular communication with shareholders and investors 
through which shareholders can have an overview of the Group’s performance and operation. Information 
is communicated to shareholders on a timely basis through the Company’s annual report, circulars to 
shareholders (if any), quarterly fi nancial results and the various announcements.

 At the AGM, shareholders are encouraged to meet the Board and raise questions or seek clarifi cations on 
any issues so as to understand the Group’s business. The members of the AC, NC and RC will be present 
to address shareholders’ queries relating to the work of these committees. Appropriate senior management 
will also be present at the AGM to respond, if necessary, to operational questions from shareholders. A 
shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote may either vote in person or through the appointment of one or 
two proxies. Voting in absentia and by electronic mail may only be possible following careful study to ensure 
that the integrity of the information and authentication of the identity of shareholder via the internet is not 
compromised. Separate resolutions are proposed on each separate issue at general meetings. Shareholders 
are encouraged to meet and communicate with the Board and to vote on all resolutions.

(E) INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
 (Rule 907 of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST)

 The Group has adopted an internal policy which sets out the procedures for the identifi cation, approval 
and monitoring of interested person transactions (“IPTs”).  All IPTs are subject to review by the AC.  The 
Company did not enter into any IPTs which require disclosure or shareholders’ approval under SGX-ST 
Listing Rules regulating IPTs during the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007.

 (F) RISK MANAGEMENT
 (Rule 1207(4)(d) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST)

 Currently, the Group does not have a Risk Management Committee.  However, the management regularly 
reviews the Company’s business and operational activities to identify areas of signifi cant business risks as 
well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks.  The management reviews all signifi cant 
control policies and procedures and will highlight all signifi cant matters to the Directors and the AC.

 Financial risk factors have been described in Notes 38 of the Financial Statements.

(G) MATERIAL CONTRACTS
 (Rule 1207(8) of the Listing Manual of SGX-ST)

 Save for the service agreements between the Company and the executive Directors and except as disclosed 
in the Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements, there were no other material contracts of the Company 
and its subsidiaries involving the interests of the CEO or any Director or controlling shareholder, either 
subsisting at the end of the fi nancial year or if not then subsisting, which were entered into since the end of 
the previous fi nancial year.
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The directors present their report to the members together with the audited fi nancial statements of the Group for the 
fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007 and the balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2007.

Directors

The directors of the Company in offi ce at the date of this report are as follows:

Ren Yuanlin  (appointed on 13 January 2006)
Teo Yi-dar (appointed on 28 July 2006) 
Wang Dong (appointed on 18 March 2007)
Xiang Jianjun (appointed on 18 March 2007)
Ong Sie Hou Raymond (appointed on 18 March 2007)
Teo Moh Gin (appointed on 18 March 2007)

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the fi nancial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose 
objects are, or one of whose object is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by means of the 
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. 

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

(a) According to the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company for the purpose of section 164 of the 
Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), none of the directors holding  offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year 
had any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

 

Holdings registered in name of 
director or nominee

Holdings in which a director
is deemed to have an interest

At 1.1.2007
or date of

appointment,
if later 

 At
31.12.2007

As at 
21.01.2008

At 1.1.2007
or date of

appointment,
if later 

 At
31.12.2007

As at 
21.01.2008

Company
(Ordinary shares)
Ren Yuanlin – – – 3,873(1) 1,067,754,000 –
Wang Dong – – – 684,477,000 510,466,000 –
Xiang Jianjun – – – 972,123,000 883,668,000 –
Teo Yi-dar – – 50,000 – – –

 
 Note

 (1) Pursuant to written resolutions passed on 12 March 2007, the shareholders approved the subdivision of each ordinary 
share in the issued share capital into 251,000 ordinary shares.

(b) Ren Yuanlin and Xiang Jianjun who by virtue of their deemed interest of not less than 20% of the issued 
capital of the Company, is deemed to have an interest in the share capital of the Company’s wholly-owned 
subsidiaries and in the shares held by the Company in the subsidiary companies that are not wholly-owned by 
the Group in note 44 to the consolidated fi nancial statement.

(c) The directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 21 January 2008 were the same as those 
as at 31 December 2007, except for Teo Yi-dar which is disclosed in (a).

Directors’ contractual benefi ts 

Since the end of the previous fi nancial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t by 
reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a fi rm of which he is a 
member or with a company in which he has a substantial fi nancial interest, except as disclosed in the accompanying 
fi nancial statements and in this report.
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Share Options

No option to take up unissued shares of the Company was granted during the fi nancial year.

There were no shares issued during the fi nancial year by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares 
of the Company whether granted before or during the fi nancial year.

There were no unissued shares of the Company or any subsidiary companies under option at the end of the fi nancial 
year.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee at the end of the fi nancial year were as follows:

Teo Moh Gin (Chairman)
Ong Sie Hou Raymond
Teo Yi-dar

Two of the AC members are independent Directors and one is a non-executive Director.

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with section 201B(5) of the Act including the following:

a) Reviewing the audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor, results of its audit and its report on the 
weaknesses of internal accounting controls arising from the statutory audit;

b) Reviewing the audit plan of the internal auditor, results of its audit and evaluation of the Group’s systems of 
internal accounting controls;

c) Reviewing the nature and extent of the external auditors’ non-audit services to the Group, seeking to balance 
the maintenance of objectivity and value for money, as well as the assistance given by management to the 
external auditor;

d) Reviewing the signifi cant fi nancial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the intergrity of the 
fi nancial statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s fi nancial statement.

e) Reviewing  the fi nancial reports of the Group, prior to the submission to the board, and assisting our Board in 
the discharge of its responsibilities on fi nancial and accounting matters; 

f) Reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function, and the adequacy of the 
Group’s internal fi nancial controls, operational and compliance control, and risk management systems;

g) Reviewing interested person transactions and potential confl icts of interest, if any;

h) Reviewing the hedging policies and instruments implemented by the Group;

i) Reviewing the repayment of entrusted loans to ensure that the Group’s fi nancial performance and position are 
not compromised; and

j) Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external 
auditor.
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The Audit Committee, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditor to the Group, is 
satisfi ed that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditor. 

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that the independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, be 
nominated for re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Further details regarding the Audit Committee are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Statement.

Independent Auditor

The independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, has expressed their willingness to accept re–appointment. 

On behalf of the directors

 
REN YUANLIN WANG DONG
Director Director

Dated: 31 March 2008
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In the opinion of the directors,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group as set out on pages 
34 to 90 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group 
at 31 December 2007 and of the results of the business, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group for the 
fi nancial year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the directors

 
REN YUANLIN WANG DONG
Director Director

Dated: 31 March 2008
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We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 34 to 90, which comprise the balance sheets of the Company and 
of the Group as at 31 December 2007, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity and the consolidated cash fl ow statement of the Group for the fi nancial year then ended, and a summary of 
signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial statements in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (Cap. 50) (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. 
This responsibility includes:

(a) devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls suffi cient to provide a reasonable assurance 
that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly 
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profi t and loss 
accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets;

(b) selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 

(c) making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the fi nancial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the fi nancial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi nancial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion,

(a) the balance sheet of the Company and the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group are properly drawn 
up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2007, and the 
results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group for the fi nancial year ended on that date; and 

(b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certifi ed Public Accountants

Singapore, 31 March 2008
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The Group
 Note 2007 2006
 RMB’000 RMB’000
   
Revenue 4 3,855,494 2,324,984
Cost of sales 7 (2,970,241) (1,828,533)

Gross profi t 885,253 496,451
 
Other income 5 121,423 75,819
Other gain - net 6 101,766 14,927

Expenses
- Administrative 7 (117,898) (57,794)
- Finance 9 (128) (10,538)

Profi t before income tax 990,416 518,865
 
Income tax expense 10 (130,713) (65,650)

Net profi t 859,703 453,215

 
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 869,509 454,344
Minority interests (9,806) (1,129)

 859,703 453,215

Earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company
 (expressed in RMB cents per share)

- Basic 11 28.20 18.10
- Diluted 11 28.20 17.60
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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The Group The Company
Note 2007 2006 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12 4,438,757 215,592 1,544,961 260
Restricted cash 13 2,362,621 447,625 303,108 –
Financial assets, available-for-sale 14 104,970 300 – –
Financial assets, held-to-maturity 15 30,000 – – –
Trade receivables 16 598,979 294,214 – –
Other receivables, prepayments and other
 current assets 17 4,151,415 2,229,642 1,182,331 –
Loan receivables from third parties 18 654,000 241,570 – –
Inventories 19 413,149 75,939 – –
Due from customers for construction contracts 20 197,912 140,973 – –

12,951,803 3,645,855 3,030,400 260

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 21 1,230,089 659,457 – –
Lease prepayments 22 245,670 140,938 – –
Intangible assets 23 536 168 – –
Investment in associated companies 25 54,600 – – –
Investment in subsidiaries 24 – – 788,071 275,471
Deferred income tax assets 31 8,610 5,130 – –
Loan receivables from third parties 18 – 664,000 – –

1,539,505 1,469,693 788,071 275,471

Total assets 14,491,308 5,115,548 3,818,471 275,731

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and bills payables 26 319,966 144,260 – –
Accrual, other payables and other current
 liabilities 27 369,238 894,193 23,961 6,066
Current income tax liabilities 10 112,249 86,045 1,391 –
Derivative fi nancial instruments 28 – 246 – 246
Convertible loans 29 – 155,814 – 155,814
Due to customers for construction contracts 20 8,055,848 3,137,945 – –
Advances received on construction contracts 20 1,296,825 – – –
Borrowings 30 28,442 229,366 – 39,015

 10,182,568 4,647,869 25,352 201,141

Non-current liability
Deferred income tax liabilities 31 1,168 – – –

Total liabilities 10,183,736 4,647,869 25,352 201,141

NET ASSETS 4,307,572 467,679 3,793,119 74,590

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to equity
 holders of the Company
Share capital 32 3,337,159 110,037 3,301,942 74,820
Other reserves 33 (12,182) (109,035) – –
Retained earnings 854,247 209,124 491,177 (230)

4,179,224 210,126 3,793,119 74,590
Minority interests 128,348 257,553 – –

Total equity 4,307,572 467,679 3,793,119 74,590

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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Attributable to equity holders 
of the Company

Share Other Retained Minority Total
Note capital reserves earnings Total interests equity

 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      
Balance at 1 January 2007 110,037 (109,035) 209,124 210,126 257,553 467,679

Financial assets, available-for-
sale
- Fair value gains 33 – 79,233 – 79,233 350 79,583
- Disposals 33 – (76,081) – (76,081) – (76,081)
Net profi t for the fi nancial year – – 869,509 869,509 (9,806) 859,703

Total recognised gains for the
 fi nancial year – 3,152 869,509 872,661 (9,456) 863,205

Issue of shares 32 3,218,473 – – 3,218,473 – 3,218,473
Conversion of convertible loans 29 156,060 – – 156,060 – 156,060
Shares issue expenses 32 (147,411) – – (147,411) – (147,411)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 12 – – – – 14,646 14,646
Acquisition of minority interests 12 – – (130,685) (130,685) (134,395) (265,080)
Profi t appropriation 33 – 93,701 (93,701) – – –

Balance at 31 December 2007 3,337,159 (12,182) 854,247 4,179,224 128,348 4,307,572

Balance at 1 January 2006 # 110,000 44,801 533,419 688,220 5,716 693,936
 
Financial assets, available-for-
sale
- Fair value gains 33 – 1,246 – 1,246

(1,532)
(142) 1,104

- Disposals 33 – (1,532) – – (1,532)
Net profi t for the fi nancial year – – 454,344 454,344 (1,129) 453,215

Total recognised gains and
 (losses) for the fi nancial year – (286) 454,344 454,058 (1,271) 452,787
Adjustment arising from reverse
 acquisition (Note 2.3) 37 (200,689) – (200,652) – (200,652)
Acquisition of subsidiary – – – – 258,597 258,597
Disposal of subsidiaries – – – – (5,489) (5,489)
Profi t appropriation 33 – 47,139 (47,139) – – –
Interim dividends declared 34 – – (731,500) (731,500) – (731,500)

Balance at 31 December 2006 110,037 (109,035) 209,124 210,126 257,553 467,679

# Share capital and reserves prior to the date of acquisition represented that of Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co. Ltd., the 
legal subsidiary who is considered the acquirer in connection with the reverse acquisition for accounting purposes.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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The Group
Note 2007 2006

 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash fl ows from operating activities
Net profi t 859,703 453,215
Adjustments for:
 Income Tax 130,713 65,650
 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 34,839 16,483
 Amortisation of land use rights 2,684 1,382
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (38) (166)
 Amortisation of intangible assets 90 –
 Loss on disposal of subsidiaries – 268
 Loss on disposal of associates – 459
 Gain on disposal of fi nancial assets, available-for-sale (76,081) (1,532)
 Excess of fair value of net assets over cost of acquisition – (602)
 Interest expense 5,783 20,070
 Interest income (121,423) (75,819)

836,270 479,408
Change in working capital, net effects from acquisition and disposal of
 subsidiaries
 Inventories (337,210) (16,638)
 Due from and to customers for construction contracts 4,860,964 1,610,979
 Trade receivable, net (304,765) (37,964)
 Other receivables, prepayment and other current assets (1,840,944) (774,003)
 Trade and bills payable 175,706 4,570
 Accruals, other payables and other current liabilities 771,869 244,653
 Restricted cash (1,914,996) (98,451)

Cash generated from operations 2,246,894 1,412,554
Interest paid (5,783) (20,070)
Income taxes paid (107,989) (34,104)

Net cash provided by operating activities 2,133,122 1,358,380
 
Cash fl ows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 292 3,643
Proceeds from sales of investment in associates – 11,299
Proceeds from sales of fi nancial assets, available-for-sale 144,717 23,093
Proceeds from sales of investment in subsidiaries – 5,703
Interest received 121,423 75,819
Loans repayments received from third parties 251,570 635,280
Loans granted to third parties – (604,070)
Loans granted to an associated company (80,828) –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (605,725) (399,446)
Acquisition of fi nancial assets, held-to-maturity (30,000) –
Acquisition of fi nancial assets, available-for-sale (168,636) (16,842)
Acquisition of subsidiary in a reverse acquisition – (200,652)
Acquisition of new subsidiary, net of cash acquired 12 14,646 (163,238)
Acquisition of equity interest in existing subsidiary from minority
 shareholder 12 (265,080) –
Acquisition of associated companies (54,600) –
Acquisition of land use rights (107,416) (18,000)
Acquisition of intangible assets (458) (168)

Net cash used in investing activities (780,095) (647,579)
 
Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 3,071,062 –
Proceeds from issuance of convertible loans – 156,060
Proceeds from borrowings 28,442 139,015
Repayments of borrowings (229,366) (556,124)
Dividends paid to equity holders – (423,023)

Net cash provided by/(used in) fi nancing activities 2,870,138 (684,072)
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,223,165 26,729
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of fi nancial year 12 215,592 188,863

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of fi nancial year 12 4,438,757 215,592

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying fi nancial statements.

1. General information 

 The Company was incorporated in Singapore on 21 December 2005 as a private limited company under the 
name of Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Pte. Ltd. (Company Registration No. 200517636Z).  On 15 March 
2007, the Company was converted into a public company and changed its name to Yangzijiang Shipbuilding 
(Holdings) Ltd. 

 The Company is domiciled in Singapore and the address of its registered offi ce is 80 Raffl es Place #32-01 
UOB Plaza 1 Singapore 048624.

 The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of the legal 
subsidiaries are described in Note 44.

 Pursuant to the reverse acquisition of the Company by Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (“JYS”), 
entered into on 3 April 2006 (Note 24), the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group is prepared and 
presented as a continuation of JYS, which is considered the acquirer for reverse acquisition accounting 
purposes. The accounting for reverse acquisition is further described in the signifi cant accounting policies.

2.  Signifi cant accounting policies
 
2.1 Basis of preparation

 These fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“FRS”).  The fi nancial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as 
disclosed in the accounting policies below.

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are signifi cant to the fi nancial statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

 On 1 January 2007, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) that 
are mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as 
required, in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

 The following are the new or amended FRS that are relevant to the Group:

 Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures
 FRS107  Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

 The adoption of the above FRS did not result in any substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies 
nor any signifi cant impact on these fi nancial statements. FRS 107 and the complementary amended FRS 1 
introduce new disclosures relating to fi nancial instruments and capital respectively.

2.2 Revenue recognition

 Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the rendering of services 
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.  Revenue is presented, net of value-added tax, rebates and 
discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.  Revenue is recognised as follows:

 (a) Revenue from construction contracts

  Please refer to the paragraph “Construction Contracts” for the accounting policy for revenue from 
construction contracts.
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
 
2.2 Revenue recognition (continued)
 
 (b) Interest income

  Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.  

2.3 Accounting for the business combination between the Company and JYS

 At Group level

 The acquisition of JYS as described in Note 24 has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition in the 
consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group. JYS, which is the legal subsidiary, is considered the acquirer 
for accounting purposes. Accordingly, the consolidated income statements, balance sheets, statements of 
changes in equity and cash fl ow statements of the Group have been prepared as a continuation of JYS’s 
fi nancial statements. 

 Since such consolidated fi nancial statements represent a continuation of the fi nancial statements of the legal 
subsidiary, JYS,

 (a) The assets and liabilities of JYS are recognised and measured in the consolidated balance sheet at 
their pre-combination carrying amounts;

 
 (b) The retained earnings and other equity balances recognised in the consolidated fi nancial statements 

are the retained earnings and other equity balances of JYS immediately before the business 
combination;

 (c) The amount recognised as issued equity in the consolidated fi nancial statements is determined 
by adding to the issued equity of JYS immediately before the business combination the cost of the 
acquisition deemed to have been incurred by JYS in the reverse acquisition of the Company. However, 
the Company’s equity structure (i.e. the number and the type of equity issued) is disclosed in Note 32 to 
the fi nancial statements; and

 (d) Comparative information presented in the consolidated fi nancial statements are those of JYS.

 At Company level

 Reverse acquisition accounting applies only in the consolidated fi nancial statements. Therefore, in the legal 
parent’s (i.e. the Company’s) separate fi nancial statements, the investment in the legal subsidiary (i.e. JYS) is 
accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the Company’s balance sheet.

2.4  Group accounting 

 (a) Subsidiaries

  Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating 
policies, generally accompanying by a shareholding giving rise to the majority of the voting rights. 
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. 

  The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries.  The cost of 
an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. 
Identifi able assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair value on the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of minority 
interest.  Please refer to the paragraph “Intangible assets – Goodwill” for the accounting policy on 
goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries.



40

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. and its Subsidiaries  Annual Report 2007

2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.4  Group accounting (continued)

 (a) Subsidiaries (continued)

  Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date on which control ceases. 

  In preparing the consolidated fi nancial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 
transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are 
considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

  Minority interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of a subsidiary 
attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the Group.  They are measured 
at the minorities’ share of fair value of the subsidiaries’ identifi able assets and liabilities at the date of 
acquisition by the Group and the minorities’ share of changes in equity since the date of acquisition, 
except when the minorities’ share of losses in a subsidiary exceeds its interest in the equity of that 
subsidiary.  In such cases, the excess and further losses applicable to the minorities are attributed 
to the equity holders of the Company, unless the minorities have a binding obligation to, and are able 
to, make good the losses. When that subsidiary subsequently reports profi ts, the profi ts applicable to 
the minority are attributed to the equity holders of the Company until the minorities’ share of losses 
previously absorbed by the equity holders of the Company are fully recovered. 

  Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies” for the 
accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries in the separate fi nancial statements of the Company.

 (b) Transactions with minority interests

  Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control is accounted for by 
adjusting the carrying amount of minority interests to refl ect the changes in the Group’s interest in the 
subsidiary’s net assets.  The difference between the amount of adjustment to minority interests and the 
fair value of the consideration paid or received, if any, is brought to equity.

 (c) Associated companies 
 
  Associated companies are entities over which the Group has signifi cant infl uence, but not control, 

generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to between and including 20% and 50% of 
the voting rights.  Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements using the equity method of accounting.  Investments in associated companies 
in the consolidated balance sheet includes goodwill (net of accumulated impairment) identifi ed on 
acquisition.  Please refer to the paragraph “Intangible assets – Goodwill” for the Group’s accounting 
policy on goodwill.  

  Investments in associated companies are initially recognised at cost.  The cost of an acquisition is 
measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or 
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

  In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-
acquisition profi ts or losses is recognised in the income statement and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in reserves is recognised in equity directly. These post-acquisition movements are adjusted 
against the carrying amount of the investment.  When the Group’s share of losses in an associated 
company equals or exceeds its interest in the associated company, including any other unsecured non-
current receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has obligations or has made 
payments on behalf of the associated company.
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.4  Group accounting (continued)

 (c) Associated companies (continued)

  Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are eliminated to 
the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting 
policies of associated companies have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

  Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies” for the 
accounting policy on investments in associated companies in the separate fi nancial statements of the 
Company.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 

 (a) Measurement 

  All property, plant and equipment (‘PPE’) are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

 (b) Components of costs 

  The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price 
and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary 
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The projected cost of 
dismantlement, removal or restoration is also included as part of the cost of property, plant and 
equipment if the obligation for the dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence 
of acquiring or using the asset.  

 (c) Depreciation 

  Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amount over 
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

   Useful lives

  Buildings 8 - 20 years
  Machinery 5 - 10 years
  Vehicles 5 - 12 years
  Furniture, fi ttings and equipment  5 - 12 years

  The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are 
recognised in the income statement when the changes arise.

 (d) Construction-in-progress

  Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and machinery under construction or pending 
installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. This includes cost of 
construction, plant and equipment and other direct costs. No provision for depreciation is made on 
construction-in-progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended 
use. When the assets concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred to property, plant and 
equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy stated above.
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 (e) Subsequent expenditure
 
  Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised 

is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefi ts 
associated with the item will fl ow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  All 
other repair and maintenance expense is recognised in the income statement when incurred.

 (f) Disposal 

  On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds 
and its carrying amount is recognised in the income statement. 

2.6 Intangibles

 (a) Goodwill on acquisitions

  Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share 
of the identifi able net assets and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries and associated 
companies at the date of acquisition.

  Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately as intangible assets and carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. 

  Goodwill on associated companies is included in the carrying amount of the investments.

  Gains and losses on the disposal of the subsidiaries and associated companies include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

 (b) Computer software

  Acquired computer software licences are initially capitalized at cost which includes the purchase 
price (net of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributed cost of preparing the asset for its 
intended use. Direct expenditure including employee costs, which enhances or extends the performance 
of computer software beyond its specifi cations and which can be reliably measured, is added to the 
original cost of the software. Costs associated with maintaining the computer software are recognised 
as an expense as incurred.

  Computer software licences are subsequently carried at cost less amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. These costs are amortised to the income statement using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives of three to fi ve years.

  The amortisation period and amortisation method of computer software licences are reviewed at least 
at each balance sheet date.  The effects of any revision are recognised in the income statement when 
the changes arise.

2.7 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method.
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.8 Construction contracts

 A construction contract is a contract specifi cally negotiated for the construction of an asset or a combination 
of assets that are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and functions or 
their ultimate purpose or use.

 Contract costs are recognised when incurred.

 When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract costs 
are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the contract 
activity at the balance sheet date (“percentage-of-completion method”). When the outcome of a construction 
contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred 
that are likely to be recoverable.  When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract 
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

 Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in the contract 
work and claims that can be measured reliably.  A variation or a claim is only included in contract revenue 
when it is probable that the customer will approve the variation or negotiations have reached an advanced 
stage such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claim.

 The stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total 
costs for the contract.  Costs incurred during the fi nancial year in connection with future activity on a contract 
are excluded from costs incurred to date when determining the stage of completion of a contract.  Such costs 
are shown as construction contract work-in-progress on the balance sheet unless it is not probable that such 
contract costs are recoverable from the customers, in which case, such costs are recognised as an expense 
immediately.  

 At the balance sheet date, the aggregated costs incurred plus recognised profi t (less recognised loss) on each 
contract is compared against the progress billings. Where costs incurred plus the recognised profi ts (less 
recognised losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is presented as due from customers on construction 
contracts.  Where progress billings exceed costs incurred plus recognised profi ts (less recognised losses), 
the balance is presented as due to customers on construction contracts.

 Progress billings not yet paid by customers and retentions are included within “trade receivables”.  Advances 
received are included within “advances received on construction contracts”.

2.9 Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

 Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses 
in the Company’s balance sheet.  On disposal of investments in subsidiaries and associated companies, the 
difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in the 
income statement.

2.10 Impairment of non-fi nancial assets

 (a) Goodwill

  Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, as well as when there is indication that the goodwill may be 
impaired.  Goodwill included in the carrying amount of an investment in associated company is tested 
for impairment as part of the investment, rather than separately.

  For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units (“CGU”) expected to benefi t from synergies arising from the business combination.

  An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a CGU, including the goodwill, exceeds 
the recoverable amount of the CGU. Recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of the CGU’s fair value 
less cost to sell and value-in-use.
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.10 Impairment of non-fi nancial assets (continued)

 (a) Goodwill (continued)

  The total impairment loss of a CGU is allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill 
allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying 
amount of each asset in the CGU. 

  An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised in the income statement and is not reversed in a 
subsequent period.

 (b) Intangible assets
  Property, plant and equipment
  Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

  Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries and associated 
companies are tested for impairment whenever there is any indication or objective evidence that these 
assets may be impaired.  

  For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less 
cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does 
not generate cash fl ows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, 
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.

  If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 

  The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment 
loss in the income statement.

  An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the assets’ recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognised. The carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised 
recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined (net of any accumulated amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is 
recognised in the income statement. 

2.11  Financial assets

 (a) Classifi cation

  The Group classifi es its fi nancial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profi t or 
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale. The classifi cation depends on the 
purpose for which the fi nancial assets were acquired. Management determines the classifi cation of its 
fi nancial assets at initial recognition.  The designation of fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or 
loss is irrevocable. 

 
  (i) Financial assets, at fair value through profi t or loss 

   This category has two sub-categories: fi nancial assets held for trading and those designated 
at fair value through profi t or loss at inception. A fi nancial asset is classifi ed as held for 
trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Financial assets 
designated as at fair value through profi t or loss at inception are those that are managed and 
their performance are evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented Group’s 
investment strategy. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are 
designated as hedges. Assets in this category are presented as current assets if they are either 
held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months after the balance sheet date.
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.11  Financial assets (continued)

 (a) Classifi cation (continued)

   (ii) Loan and receivables 

   Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those 
maturing later than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented as non-current 
assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “trade receivables”; “other receivables, 
prepayments and other current assets”; “loan receivables from third parties” and “cash and 
cash equivalents” on the balance sheet.

  (iii) Financial assets, held-to-maturity 

   Financial assets, held-to-maturity are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable 
payments and fi xed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and 
ability to hold to maturity. If the Group were to sell other than an insignifi cant amount of held-
to-maturity fi nancial assets, the whole category would be tainted and reclassifi ed as available-
for-sale.  They are presented as non-current assets, except for those maturing within 12 months 
after the balance sheet date which are presented as current assets.

  (iv) Financial assets, available-for-sale 

   Financial assets, available-for-sale are non-derivatives that are either designated in this 
category or not classifi ed in any of the other categories. They are presented as non-current 
assets unless management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the balance 
sheet date.

 (b) Recognition and derecognition

  Regular way purchases and sales of fi nancial assets are recognised on the trade-date – the date on 
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.   

  Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash fl ows from the fi nancial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. On disposal of a fi nancial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale 
proceeds is recognised in the income statement. 

 (c) Initial measurement 
 
  Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for fi nancial assets 

at fair value through profi t or loss, which are recognised at fair value.  Transaction costs for fi nancial 
assets at fair value through profi t and loss are recognised in the income statement.

 (d) Subsequent measurement 

  Financial assets, both available-for-sale and at fair value through profi t or loss are subsequently carried 
at fair value. Loans and receivables and fi nancial assets, held-to-maturity are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

  Changes in the fair values of fi nancial assets, at fair value through profi t or loss including the effects of 
currency translation, interest and dividend, are recognised in the income statement when the changes 
arise. 
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.11  Financial assets (continued)

 (d) Subsequent measurement (continued)

  Interest and dividend income on fi nancial assets, available-for-sale are recognised separately in the 
income statement.  Changes in the fair values of available-for-sale debt securities (i.e. monetary items) 
denominated in foreign currencies are analysed into currency translation differences on the amortised 
cost of the securities and other changes; the currency translation differences are recognised in the 
income statement and the other changes are recognised in the fair value reserve.  Changes in fair 
values of available-for-sale equity securities (i.e. non-monetary items) are recognised in the fair value 
reserve, together with the related currency translation differences.

 (e) Impairment 

  The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a fi nancial 
asset or a group of fi nancial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such 
evidence exists. 

  (i) Loans and receivables/ Financial assets, held-to-maturity

   Signifi cant fi nancial diffi culties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, 
and default or signifi cant delay in payments are objective evidence that these fi nancial assets 
are impaired. 

   The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance 
account which is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When 
the asset becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line item in the 
income statement.

   The allowance for impairment loss account is reduced through the income statement in a 
subsequent period when the amount of impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can 
be objectively measured. The carrying amount of the asset previously impaired is increased to 
the extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed the amortised cost had no impairment 
been recognised in prior periods.

  (ii) Financial assets, available-for-sale 

   Signifi cant or prolonged declines in the fair value of the security below its cost and the 
disappearance of an active trading market for the security are objective evidence that the 
security is impaired. 

   The cumulative loss that was recognised in the fair value reserve is transferred to the income 
statement. The cumulative loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost (net 
of any principal repayments and amortisation) and the current fair value, less any impairment 
loss previously recognised in the income statement on debt securities. The impairment losses 
recognised in the income statement on equity securities are not reversed through the income 
statement. 

2.12  Financial guarantees 

 The Group has issued corporate guarantees in respect of loan facilities granted by the bank to the agent and 
related parties of the Group.  These guarantees are fi nancial guarantee contracts as they require the Group to 
reimburse the banks if the debtors fail to make principal or interest payments when due, in accordance with 
the terms of their borrowings.

 Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at their fair values plus transaction costs. 



47

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. and its Subsidiaries  Annual Report 2007

2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.12  Financial guarantees (continued)

 Financial guarantee contracts are subsequently amortised to the income statement over the period of the 
debtors’ borrowings, unless the Company has incurred an obligation to reimburse the bank for an amount 
higher than the unamortised amount.  In this case, the fi nancial guarantee contracts shall be carried at the 
expected amount payable to the bank. 

2.13 Borrowings

 Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

 Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised costs.  Any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest method.

2.14 Convertible loan

 A convertible loan is regarded as hybrid instrument, consisting of an embedded derivative, the economic 
characteristic and risks of which are not closely related to that of the host instrument, the loan.

 At inception, the embedded derivative is bifurcated from the host instrument and recorded as liability in 
accordance with FRS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. For embedded derivative 
which fair value cannot be determined reliably, the fair value of the embedded derivative is the difference 
between the fair value of the hybrid instrument and the fair value of the host contract.

2.15 Trade and other payables

 Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method.

2.16  Derivative fi nancial instruments 

 A derivative fi nancial instrument is initially recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered into 
and is subsequently carried at their fair value. 

 Fair value changes for derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are included in the 
income statement in the fi nancial year when the changes arise.

2.17  Fair value estimation of fi nancial assets and liabilities

 The fair values of fi nancial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and over-the-
counter securities and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted 
market prices used for fi nancial assets are the current bid prices; the appropriate quoted market prices for 
fi nancial liabilities are the current asking prices.

 The fair values of fi nancial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by using 
valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market 
conditions existing at each balance sheet date.  Where appropriate, quoted market prices or dealer quotes for 
similar instruments are used. Valuation techniques, such as discounted cash fl ow analyses, are also used to 
determine the fair values of the fi nancial instruments. 

 
 The fair values of currency forwards are determined using actively quoted forward exchange rates. 

 The fair values of current fi nancial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying 
amounts.
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.18 Operating leases

 Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are 
retained by the lessor are classifi ed as operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are taken to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period 
of the lease.

 Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the fi nancial year in which they are 
incurred.

2.19 Inventories

 Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the fi rst-in, fi rst-
out method.  The cost of fi nished goods and work-in-progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other 
direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity) but excludes borrowing 
costs.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable 
variable selling expenses. 

2.20 Income taxes

 Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or 
recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

 Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the fi nancial statements except when the deferred income tax 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profi t or loss at the time of the transaction.

 A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 
and associated companies except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi t will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised. 

 Deferred income tax is measured:

 (i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date; and

 (ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the 
balance sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.  

 Current and deferred income tax are recognised as income or expenses in the income statement for 
the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is 
recognised directly in equity.  Deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill 
on acquisition.

2.21 Provisions

 Provisions for warranty, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outfl ow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions 
comprise lease termination penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating losses.
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.21 Provisions (continued)

 The Group recognises the estimated liability to repair or replace products still under warranty at the 
balance sheet date.  This provision is calculated based on historical experience of the level of repairs and 
replacements.

 Other provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects the current market assessment of the time value of money 
and the risks specifi c to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised 
in the income statement as fi nance expense.

 Changes in the estimated timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate are recognised in the income 
statement when the changes arise.

2.22 Employee compensation 

 (i) Defi ned contribution plans

  Defi ned contribution plans are post-employment benefi t plans under which the Group pays fi xed 
contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund and the social security plan in 
People’s Republic of China (the ”PRC”) on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.  The Group has 
no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.  The Group’s contributions are 
recognised as employee compensation expense when they are due, unless they can be capitalised as 
an asset.  

  In accordance with the relevant regulations in the PRC, the premiums and welfare benefi t contributions 
borne by the Group are calculated based on certain percentages of the total salary of employees, 
subject to a certain ceiling, and are paid to the labor and social welfare authorities.  Contributions 
to the plans are capitalised as production costs and included in the construction cost or expensed as 
incurred. 

 (ii) Termination benefi ts 

  Termination benefi ts are those benefi ts which are payable when employment is terminated before 
the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefi ts.  The Group recognises termination benefi ts when it is demonstrably committed to 
either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefi ts as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Benefi ts falling due more than 12 months after balance sheet date are discounted 
to present value.

2.23 Foreign currency translation

 (i) Functional and presentation currency 

  Items included in the fi nancial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The fi nancial 
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”).

 (ii) Transactions and balances

  Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation 
differences from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the balance sheet date are 
recognised in the income statement, unless they arise from borrowings in foreign currencies and net 
investment in foreign operations.  Those currency translation differences are recognised in the currency 
translation reserve in the consolidated fi nancial statements and transferred to the income statement 
as part of the gain or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

2.23 Foreign currency translation (continued)

 (ii) Transactions and balances (continued)

  Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair values are determined.

 (iii) Translation of Group entities’ fi nancial statements

  The results and fi nancial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinfl ationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

  (i) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the date of the balance 
sheet;

  (ii) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction 
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions); and

  (iii) All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in the currency translation reserve 
within equity. 

2.24 Segment reporting

 A business segment is a distinguishable component of the Group engaged in providing products or services 
that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.  A geographical 
segment is a distinguishable component of the Group engaged in providing products or services within a 
particular economic environment that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments 
operating in other economic environments.

 In accordance with the Group’s internal fi nancial reporting, the Group has determined that business segments 
are presented as the primary reporting segment, and the geographical segments as the secondary reporting 
segment.

2.25 Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 
include cash on hand and deposits held at call with fi nancial institutions and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less but exclude restricted cash.

2.26 Paid-in capital

 Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are 
deducted against share capital account.

 
2.27 Dividends to the Company’s shareholders

 Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognised when the dividends are approved for payment.
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2.  Signifi cant accounting policies (continued)
 
2.28 Government grants

 Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

 Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the income statement over the period 
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

 
 Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included in non-current 

liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited to the income statement on the straight line basis 
over the expected lives of the related assets.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments

 Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

 (a)  Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

  The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges 
for its plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful 
lives of plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change signifi cantly as a result of 
technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles.  Management will 
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will 
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

 (b) Deferred income tax 

  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.  Deferred income tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi t will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

  The Group’s management determines the deferred income tax based on the enacted or substantially 
enacted tax rates and laws and best knowledge of profi t projections of the Group for coming years 
during which the deferred income tax expense are settled.  Management will revise the assumptions 
and profi t projections at each balance sheet date.

  If the actual effective tax rate for year 2007 differs by 10% from management’s estimates, the Group 
would need to:

  – increase the deferred tax assets and decrease income tax expense by RMB348,000, if favourable; 
or

  – decrease the deferred tax assets and increase income tax expense by RMB348,000, if 
unfavourable.
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

 (c) Withholding tax on dividends

  The Group is subject to income taxes in the tax jurisdiction in the PRC.

  According to the New Corporate Income Tax Law (“CIT”) and the Detailed Implementation Regulations 
(“DIR”), dividends distributed to the foreign investor by Foreign Invested Enterprises (“FIE”) in the 
PRC, would be subject to withholding tax of 10% (5% for countries such as Singapore that has signed 
on bilateral treaty with the PRC).

  The Chinese tax authorities have granted a special tax concession which states that dividends 
distributed out of the pre-2008 retained earnings of an FIE shall be exempted from withholding tax in 
2008 and beyond.  However, the FIE’s profi ts, arising in year 2008 and beyond, to be distributed to the 
foreign investors as dividends shall be subject to withholding tax.

  The management has considered the above tax exposure and has not provided for deferred tax liability 
as at 31 December 2007 based on the assumption that there will be no withholding tax on dividends to 
be distributed out of the pre-2008 retained earnings.

 (d) Impairment of trade receivable

  The Group’s management determines the provision for impairment of accounts receivable. This 
expected future cash fl ow is based on the credit history of its customers and the current market 
conditions.   Management will reassess the provision for impairment at each balance sheet date. The 
management had assessed that as at 31 December 2007, no provision for impairment is required.

 (e) Stage of completion of construction contracts

  The Group uses the percentage-of-completion method in accounting for its construction contracts, 
which requires the Group to estimate the stage of completion of a contract by determining the 
proportion that contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract 
costs.

  The stage of completion of each construction contract is assessed on a cumulative basis in each 
accounting period. If the proportion that contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract 
costs differed by 10% from management’s estimates, the amount of revenue recognised in the year 
would increased by RMB169,551,937 if the proportion performed was increased, or would be decreased 
by RMB169,730,740 if the proportion performed was decreased.

4. Revenue 

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract revenue 3,855,494 2,324,984

5. Other income

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest income on entrusted loans 51,777 48,874
Interest income on loans to third parties 12,868 19,516
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents 56,778 7,429

121,423 75,819
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6. Other gains - net 

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-performance penalty charges to supplier 15 11,250
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 38 166
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale fi nancial assets (Note 33) 76,081 1,532
Loss on disposal of associates – (459)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries – (268)
Excess of fair value of net assets acquired over cost – 602
Currency translation gains/(losses) - net 25,228 (201)
Sales of metal structure – 2,077
Others 404 228

101,766 14,927

7. Expenses by nature

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials and consumables used 1,545,270 1,189,086
Outsourcing and processing fee 1,093,997 424,630
Other project-related fees and charges 148,880 112,494
Commission expenses 89,476 64,549
Employee compensation (Note 8) 83,956 44,164
Depreciation of plant, property and equipment (Note 21) 34,839 16,483
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 22) 2,684 1,382
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 23) 90 –
Total amortisation and depreciation 37,613 17,865

Promotion and advertising expenses 15,999 –
Utilities 44,634 12,418
Professional fees 3,465 6,506
Director fees 420 –
Listing fees 386 –
Transportation expenses 3,098 2,732
Operating lease for land use right 1,500 1,519
Operating lease for coast line right 200 164
Others 19,245 10,200
Total cost of sales and administrative expenses 3,088,139 1,886,327
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8. Employee compensation

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, wages and bonuses 21,347 15,375
Other employee benefi ts 47,018 25,083
Employer’s contributions to defi ned contribution plans (see Note (a) below) 5,577 3,706
Profi t sharing scheme (see Note (b) below) 10,014 –

83,956 44,164

 (a) Contributions to pension plans

  The employees of the Group who are employed in the PRC participate in a defi ned contribution 
retirement benefi t plan organised by the relevant provincial government. For the fi nancial year ended 
31 December 2007, the Group is required to make monthly defi ned contribution to these plans at 37.6% 
(2006: 38.2%), of the employees’ monthly salaries and wages as stipulated by local rules and regulations. 
These pension contributions are expensed as incurred.

  The Group has no other obligations for the payment of retirement and other post-retirement benefi ts of 
employees or retirees other than the payments disclosed in this note.

 (b) Profi t-sharing scheme

  Profi t-sharing scheme is a performance incentive pursuant to which certain Executive Directors and 
Executive Offi cers, namely Ren Yuanlin, Wang Dong, Xiang Jianjun, Cao Zhiteng and Du Chengzhong 
(the “PSS Offi cers”), are each entitled, subject to the approval of the Remuneration Committee, to 
a shared performance bonus (the “Performance Bonus Pool”) in respect of each financial year 
commencing FY2007, which is calculated based on the PBT as follows:

PBT Attained Performance Bonus Pool

Where the PBT does not exceed RMB600.0 million NIL

Where the PBT exceeds RMB600.0 million but 
does not exceed RMB700.0 million

0.5% of PBT

Where the PBT exceeds RMB700.0 million but
does not exceed RMB800.0 million

0.75% of PBT

Where the PBT exceeds RMB800.0 million 1.0% of PBT

  For this purpose, “PBT” refers to the consolidated profi t before tax of the Group before adjustments for 
the Performance Bonus Pool and excluding gains on exceptional items and extraordinary items.

  The applicable Performance Bonus Pool for each fi nancial year will be apportioned between Ren 
Yuanlin, Wang Dong, Xiang Jianjun, Cao Zhiteng and Du Chengzhong depending on their involvement, 
role, responsibility and performance in the Group, subject to an annual review by the Remuneration 
Committee.  Where the employment of any of the PSS Offi cers is not for a full fi nancial year, his share 
of the applicable Performance Bonus Pool will be pro-rated accordingly.

9. Finance expenses 

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank borrowings 5,783 20,070
Currency translation gains - net (5,655) (9,532)
Finance expenses recognised in the income statement 128 10,538
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10. Income tax

 The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profi t arising or derived from the tax jurisdiction in 
which the Group is domiciled and operates.  Under the relevant income tax law of the PRC, except for certain 
preferential treatment available to the Group, the Group is subject to corporate income tax of 24% of taxable 
income.

 Pursuant to the applicable income tax laws and regulations of the PRC, a new foreign invested manufacturing 
enterprise is entitled to preferential tax rates (tax holiday): two years’ exemption and three years’ 50% 
reduction in the income tax rate. 

 In accordance with the approval from the relevant PRC tax authority, the Group’s subsidiary, JYS, was granted 
an income tax exemption for 2004 and 2005 and a 50% reduction in income tax rate for the three years from 2006 
to 2008.  Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (“JNYS”) has no taxable profi ts in 2007 and therefore the 
income tax exemption is for 2008 and 2009 and a 50% reduction in income tax rate for the three years from 2010 
to 2012.

 (a) Income tax expense

The Group
RMB’000 RMB’000

Income tax expense attributable to profi t is made up of:

Current income tax 134,193 70,780
Deferred income tax (3,480) (5,130)

130,713 65,650

  The tax on the Group’s profi t before tax differs from the amount that would arise using the PRC income 
tax rate applicable to profi t of the main operating legal subsidiaries in PRC due to the following:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profi t before tax 990,416 518,865

Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate of 24% 
(2006: 24%) 237,699 124,528
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 5,139 54
Effect of tax holiday (113,375) (58,932)
Effects of different tax rates in other countries 1,250 –

130,713 65,650

 (b) Movements in current income tax liabilities

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

At beginning of the fi nancial year 86,045 49,369
Income tax paid (107,989) (34,104)
Current fi nancial year’s tax expense on profi t 134,193 70,780
At end of the fi nancial year 112,249 86,045
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11. Earnings per share

 (a) Basic earnings per share

  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profi t attributable to equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the fi nancial year.

The Group
2007 2006

Net profi t attributable to equity holders of the Company (RMB’000) 869,509 454,344

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for 
 basic earnings per share (‘000) (note (i) and (ii) ) 3,082,091 2,510,000

Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) 28.20 18.10

  (i)  In calculating the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 2006 in which 
the reverse acquisition occurs:

   (1) the number of ordinary shares outstanding from 1 January 2006 to the acquisition date 
shall be deemed to be the number of ordinary shares issued by the Company to the 
shareholders of the legal subsidiary; and

   (2)  the number of ordinary shares outstanding from the acquisition date to 31 December 2006 
shall be the actual number of ordinary shares of the Company outstanding during the 
year.

  (ii)  The earnings per share had been adjusted to take into account the subdivision of ordinary 
shares in the capital of the Company on 12 March 2007.

 (b) Diluted earnings per share 

  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, profi t attributable to equity holders of the 
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for the effects 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares: convertible loans.

  The convertible bonds are assumed to have been converted into ordinary shares for the purpose of 
calculating diluted earnings per share for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2006.

  Diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company is calculated as follows:

The Group
2007 2006

Net profi t attributable to equity holders of the Company (RMB’000) 869,509 454,344

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for 
 basic earnings per share (‘000) (note (i) and (ii)) 3,082,091 2,510,000
Adjustments for assumed conversion of convertible loans (‘000) – 71,226

3,082,091 2,581,226

Diluted earnings per share (RMB cents) 28.20 17.60
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12. Cash and cash equivalents

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at bank and on hand 2,043,156 185,592 5,316 260
Short term bank deposits 2,395,601 30,000 1,539,645 –

4,438,757 215,592 1,544,961 260

 The weighted average effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits, with a maturity date of 7 days (2006: 
7 days), was 1.36% (2006: 1.26%).

 The Group’s cash denominated in RMB is deposited with banks in the PRC. The conversion of these RMB 
denominated balances into foreign currencies is subject to the foreign exchange control rules and regulations 
promulgated by the PRC Government.

 Acquisition of equity interest in existing subsidiary from minority shareholder

 During the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007, the Group acquired 25.97% interests in JNYS from the 
minority shareholders; for a cash consideration of RMB265,080,000.  The acquisition is carried out through 
the subsidiaries, SEAVI Advent Asia Investments (III) Ltd (“SEAVI”) (25.0%, cash consideration of 
RMB259,080,000) and JYS (0.97%, cash consideration of RMB6,000,000).

 The carrying amount of the subsidiary’s net asset at the date of acquisition is RMB134,395,000.  The difference 
between the amount of adjustment to minority interest and the consideration paid is RMB130,685,000, which is 
brought to equity.

 Acquisition and incorporation of new subsidiaries 

 The aggregate effects of the acquisition and incorporation of subsidiaries on the cash fl ows of the Group 
were:

2007

SEAVI 
Advent Asia 
Investments 

(III) Ltd 
(Acquired)

Jiangsu 
Tian Yuan 

Ship Import 
and Export

Co. Ltd 
(Acquired)

Jiangsu 
Runzhou 

Ship 
Accessories 

Co., Ltd
(Acquired)

Jiangyin 
Yangchuan 

Labour 
Supply 
Co., Ltd

(Incorporated)

Jiangsu 
Zhongzhou 

Marine 
Equipment 

Co., Ltd
(Incorporated) Total

RMB ‘000 RMB ‘000 RMB ‘000 RMB ‘000 RMB ‘000 RMB ‘000

Identifi able assets and
 liabilities1

Cash and cash equivalents – 10,000 180,000 1,000 68,100 259,100
Investment in JNYS 259,080 – – – – 259,080
Investment in YHDM 39,600 – – – – 39,600
Total identifi able net assets 298,680 10,000 180,000 1,000 68,100 557,780

Less: Minority interests – (1,000) – (24) (13,622) (14,646)
Identifi able net assets
 acquired with the cash
 consideration paid 298,680 9,000 180,000 976 54,478 543,134

Less: Cash and cash
 equivalents in subsidiary
 acquired/incorporated – (10,000) (180,000) (1,000) (68,100) (259,100)

Net cash (infl ow) on
 acquisition/incorporation – (1,000) – (24) (13,622) (14,646)
Net cash outfl ow 2 298,680 – – – – 298,680
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12. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

 Acquisition and incorporation of new subsidiaries (continued) 
 
 Note 1: All the assets and liabilities are at their carrying amounts in the acquirees’ books which is 

equivalent to the fair values.

 Note 2: The net cash outfl ow relates to the acquisition of JNYS at RMB259,080,000 and acquisition of 
YHDM, an associated company, at RMB39,600,000.

 For the purpose of presenting the consolidated cash fl ow statements, the acquisitions comprise the following:

Acquisition 
of equity 

interest in 
existing 

subsidiary 
from minority 

shareholder

Acquisition 
of associated 

companies
RMB’000 RMB’000

(i) Net cash outfl ow in acquiring SEAVI (see above)

 - Investment in JNYS (259,080) –
 - Investment in YHDM – (39,600)

(ii) Net cash outfl ow in acquiring 0.97% equity interest in JNYS by 
 JYS (see above) (6,000) –

(iii) Net cash outfl ow in acquiring Shanghai Henggao Ships 
 Designing Co., Ltd, an associated company (Note 25) – (15,000)

(265,080) (54,600)
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12. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

 In 2006, the Group has increased its equity interests in JNYS to 50.19% and disposed two subsidiaries, 
Jiangyin Yangzijiang Ship Engineering Co., Ltd (“JYSE”) and Jiangyin Sumeida Ship Engineering Co., Ltd 
(“JSSE”).

2006 Acquisition Disposal

At 
fair values

Carrying
amounts in
acquiree’s

books

Carrying
amount -

JYSE

Carrying
amount -

JSSE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Identifi able assets and liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents 68,762 68,762 (4,668) (3,076)
Trade and other receivables 206,714 206,714 (5,109) (13,560)
Inventories – – (3,829) (459)
Property, plant and equipment (Note 21) 136,042 136,042 (13,671) (1,794)
Lease prepayments (Note 22) 97,992 97,992 – –
Loan from third parties - current portion 20,000 20,000 – –
Loan from third parties - non current
 portion 20,000 20,000 – –
Total assets 549,510 549,510 (27,277) (18,889)
Trade and other payables (30,311) (30,311) 19,021 7,941
Total liabilities (30,311) (30,311) 19,021 7,941
Identifi able net assets 519,199 519,199 (8,256) (10,948)
Less: Minority interests (258,597) (258,597) 2,752 2,737
Identifi able net assets acquired /(disposed) 260,602 260,602 (5,504) (8,211)
Excess of the fair value of Group’s share of
 the identifi able net assets over the cost 
 of acquisition (602)
Cash consideration paid 260,000
Less: Investment in associate (28,000)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents in
  subsidiary acquired (68,762)
Net cash outfl ow on acquisition 163,238

13. Restricted cash

 The restricted cash was held in designated bank accounts under the name of the Company and the Group as 
deposits for performance guarantee, letters of credits and borrowings.

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Restricted cash 2,362,621 447,625 303,108 –

 The weighted average effective interest rate on restricted cash, with a maturity of 180 days (2006: 180 days), 
was 2.09% (2006: 2.12%).
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14.  Financial assets, available-for-sale

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Beginning of fi nancial year 300 5,505
Additions 168,636 16,842
Disposal (144,717) (23,093)
Fair value gains recognised in equity - net of tax 79,583 1,104
Recognition/(release) of deferred income tax 1,168 (58)
End of fi nancial year 104,970 300

 At the balance sheet date, available-for-sale fi nancial assets included the following:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Investment in funds  at fair value 104,670 –
Unlisted equity investments, at cost 300 300

104,970 300

 Investment in funds represents the investment in listed shares in certain joint stock limited liability companies 
in the PRC, which are traded in active markets and are valued at market value at the close of business on the 
year end date by reference to the stock exchange bid prices.

 There is no active market for the unlisted equity investment.  Based on the directors’ assessment of the 
valuation of the unlisted equity investments, the carrying amount of the investment approximates its fair value.

15. Financial assets, held-to-maturity - current

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bonds with fi xed interest of 2.3% and maturity date 
of 2 January 2008 30,000 –

 The carrying amounts of fi nancial assets, held-to-maturity approximate their fair values.

16. Trade receivables

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 598,979 294,214

 Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s limited number 
of customers, who are mostly internationally dispersed. In addition, payment guarantees are provided by the 
customers’ banks.

 Due to these factors, management believes that there is no signifi cant credit risk in the Group’s trade 
receivables and provision for impairment is not required.

 The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values and are denominated in RMB.
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17. Other receivables, prepayments and other current assets

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Due from subsidiaries – – 47,669 –
Quasi capital loan to a subsidiary 
 (Note 12 and 24) – – 298,680 –
Due from other related party (Note 39) – 7,050 – –
Due from ultimate shareholder (Note 39) 4 – 4 –
Input Value Added Tax recoverable 220,109 68,755 26 –
Deposits for lease of land use rights 200,000 200,000 – –
Deposit for acquisition of land use rights 20,000 – – –
Loan to an associated company 80,828 – – –
Loan to subsidiaries – – 579,116 –
Advances to agents – 239,928 – –
Advances to suppliers 3,563,384 1,649,430 256,836 –
Others 67,090 64,479 – –

4,151,415 2,229,642 1,182,331 –

 The amounts due from subsidiaries, ultimate shareholder and other related party are unsecured and interest-
free.

 Loan to subsidiaries and the associated company is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

18.  Loans receivables from third parties

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current
Entrusted loans 654,000 237,570
Loans to third parties – 4,000

654,000 241,570
Non-current
Entrusted loans – 664,000

654,000 905,570

 The Group provided loans to third parties entrusted through the PRC banks and the entrusted loans bear 
interest at rate from 6% to 8% per annum (2006: 6% to 10%). 

 The carrying amounts of the loans receivables from third parties approximate their fair values and are 
denominated in RMB.

19. Inventories

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials and spare parts 413,149 75,939

 Raw materials mainly consist of metal steel products and fuel which are used in the Group’s shipbuilding 
activities. The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounts to 
RMB1,545,270,000 in 2007 (2006: RMB1,189,086,000).
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20. Due from/(to) customers for construction contracts

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Aggregate costs incurred and profi ts recognised 
 (less losses recognised) to date 2,258,704 1,011,199
Progress billings (10,116,640) (4,008,171)

(7,857,936) (2,996,972)

Presented as:
Due from customers for construction contracts 197,912 140,973
Due to customers for construction contracts (8,055,848) (3,137,945)

(7,857,936) (2,996,972)

Advances received on construction contracts (1,296,825) –

21.  Property, plant and equipment 

 The Group

Buildings Machinery Vehicles

Furniture, 
fi ttings and 
equipment

Construction
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2007
Cost
As at 1 January 2007 150,333 94,111 9,420 3,948 524,342 782,154
Additions 10,452 60,613 19,346 6,709 508,605 605,725
Transfers 592,975 249,784 1,239 – (843,998) –
Disposals – (1,159) – (402) – (1,561)
As at 31 December 2007 753,760 403,349 30,005 10,255 188,949 1,386,318

Accumulated
 depreciation 
As at 1 January 2007 (54,265) (61,282) (4,843) (2,307) – (122,697)
Additions (19,453) (12,641) (2,314) (431) – (34,839)
Disposals – 1,096 – 211 – 1,307
As at 31 December 2007 (73,718) (72,827) (7,157) (2,527) – (156,229)

Net book Value
 as at 31 December 2007 680,042 330,522 22,848 7,728 188,949 1,230,089
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21.  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

 The Group
 

Buildings Machinery Vehicles

Furniture, 
fi ttings and 
equipment

Construction
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2006
Cost
As at 1 January 2006 127,838 96,530 9,415 2,810      40,927 277,520
Addition from purchase 
 of subsidiary – 5 375 32 135,656 136,068
Additions 379 3,195 534 640 394,749 399,497
Transfers 31,752 4,208 – 818 (36,778) –
Deduction on disposal 
 of subsidiary – (7,963) – (134) (10,212) (18,309)
Disposals (9,636) (1,864) (904) (218) – (12,622)
As at 31 December 2006 150,333 94,111 9,420 3,948 524,342 782,154

Accumulated
 depreciation
As at 1 January 2006 (51,698) (59,486) (4,195) (2,221) – (117,600)
Addition from purchase 
 of subsidiary – – (26) – – (26)
Additions (9,346) (6,279) (1,175) (260) – (17,060)
Transfer out on disposal 
 of subsidiary – 2,815 – 29 – 2,844
Disposals 6,779 1,668 553 145 – 9,145
As at 31 December 2006 (54,265) (61,282) (4,843) (2,307) – (122,697)

Net book value
 as at 31 December 2006 96,068 32,829 4,577 1,641 524,342 659,457

22. Lease prepayments

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Land use rights
Cost
At the beginning of the fi nancial year 142,483 –
Acquisition of subsidiary – 98,155
Additions 107,416 44,328
At end of the fi nancial year 249,899 142,483

Accumulated amortisation
At the beginning of the fi nancial year (1,545) –
Acquisition of subsidiary – (163)
Amortisation charge (2,684) (1,382)
At the end of the fi nancial year (4,229) (1,545)

Net book value at the end of the fi nancial year 245,670 140,938
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22. Lease prepayments (continued)

 The Group’s interest in land use rights in the PRC are held on leases for 50 years.

 The Group’s subsidiary, Jiangsu Zhongzhou Marine Equipment Co., Ltd and an associated company, 
Yangzhou Huanzhou Deck Materials Co., Ltd have made lease prepayments for land use rights amounting 
to RMB50,400,000 and RMB14,000,000 respectively. The companies have commenced the construction of 
manufacturing workshops on the two pieces of land.  These companies have not obtained the land use rights 
to these lands as at the year end and their full rights to the lands and properties are subject to the grant of the 
land use rights from the PRC Land Administrative Bureau.

23. Intangible assets

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Computer Software
Cost
At the beginning of the fi nancial year 168 –
Additions 458 168
At end of the fi nancial year 626 168

Accumulated amortisation
At the beginning of the fi nancial year – –
Amortisation charge (classifi ed as administrative 
expense in the income statement) (90) –
At the end of the fi nancial year (90) –

Net book value at the end of the fi nancial year 536 168

24. Investments in subsidiaries 

The Company
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investment at cost 
Beginning of fi nancial year 275,471 –
Acquisition 512,600 275,471
End of fi nancial year 788,071 275,471 

 Details of signifi cant subsidiaries are included in Note 44.

 Acquisition of subsidiaries 

 Acquisition of Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (“JYS”)
 Reverse acquisition of the Company

 The Company was founded by the shareholders of JYS as a holding company to acquire the entire equity 
interest in JYS. 

 The Company acquired an aggregate of 72.7% equity interest in JYS from Jiangsu Runhua Technology 
Investment Co., Ltd, JYS Labour Union and 8 individual shareholders (collectively the JYS “Vendors”), 
pursuant to various equity transfer agreements dated 3 April 2006. The aggregate consideration paid to the 
JYS Vendors was US$24.9 million, based on a valuation of the assets and liabilities of JYS as at 28 February 
2006, as determined by Jiangyin Jiyang Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd, an independent valuer 
appointed for the purpose of the acquisition. 
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24. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)
 
 Acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

 Separately, the Company also acquired the remaining 27.3% equity interest in JYS held by Tongbao 
(HongKong) Shipping Co., Ltd, pursuant to an equity transfer agreement dated 3 April 2006 between the 
Company and Tongbao (HongKong) Shipping Co., Ltd (which was amended by a supplemental agreement 
dated 1 July 2006). The consideration was US$9.4 million, based on a valuation of the assets and liabilities of 
JYS as at 28 February 2006.  The consideration is satisfi ed by the issuance of 2,727 new ordinary shares of the 
Company to Lido Point Investments Ltd., as nominee of Tongbao (HongKong) Shipping Co., Ltd.

 Following the completion of the above acquisitions in JYS equity interests, JYS became the legal wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company as at 31 December 2006.

 Increase in investment in JYS

 During the financial year ended 31 December 2007, the Company increased its investment in JYS by 
RMB512,600,000 through reinvesting dividends received from the subsidiary during the fi nancial year.  Following 
the increase in the investment, the registered capital of the subsidiary is RMB622,600,000 and the Company’s 
equity interest in the subsidiary is 100% (2006: 100%).

 Acquisition of SEAVI Advent Asia Investment (III) Ltd (“SEAVI”)
 Increase in equity interest in Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (“JNYS”)

 Pursuant to equity transfer agreements dated 3 April 2006 between JYS and 2 shareholders of JNYS, JYS 
acquired an additional interest of 15.8% of the then registered capital of JNYS (RMB242.8 million) for a total 
consideration of RMB38.4 million. Concurrently, the registered capital of JNYS was increased from RMB242.8 
million to RMB518.0 million and JYS invested an additional RMB193.6 million pursuant to the capital increase.  
As a result of the above, its shareholding in JNYS was increased from 11.53% to 50.19%.

 On 28 January 2007, SEAVI acquired a 25.0% equity interest in JNYS from the JNYS minority shareholders for 
US$33.3 million. An independent valuation was conducted by Sallmanns (Far East) Limited, which was used 
as a reference to determine the purchase price of the equity interest in JNYS (the “SEAVI Acquisition”).

 Subsequently, the Company acquired a 100% interest in SEAVI at US$38.5 million (approximately RMB298.6 
million, see Note 12 and 17). The US$38.5 million was made up of US$33.3 million, being the same 
consideration as the acquisition of SEAVI’s 25% interest in JNYS, and US$5.2 million for 40% interest in 
Yangzhou Huanzhou Deck Materials Co., Ltd (“YHDM”), an associated company of SEAVI.  Upon completion 
of the acquisition of SEAVI, the Company’s aggregate shareholding (direct and indirect) in JNYS has 
increased from 50.19% to 75.19%. The acquisition of the JNYS and YHDM shares via SEAVI were funded from 
the net proceeds raised from the Offering. This was previously disclosed in the listing prospectus.

 On 27 November 2007, JYS acquired an additional 0.97% equity interests in JNYS through a cash injection of 
RMB6.0 million.  As a result, the Company increased its shareholding interest (direct and indirect) in JNYS 
from 75.19% to 76.16%.

 In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, the acquisition of aggregate 25.97% interest in JNYS 
is considered as a change in the Group’s ownership interest in the subsidiary after control is obtained. This 
is accounted for by adjusting the carrying amount of minority interest to refl ect the change in the Group’s 
interest in the subsidiary’s net asset. The difference between the amount of adjustment to minority interest 
and the fair value of the consideration paid is brought to equity.
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25. Investments in associated companies

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investment at cost 
Beginning of fi nancial year – 39,758
Addition 54,600 –
Disposal – (11,758)
Carrying value of associated company reclassifi ed to investment 
 in subsidiary – (28,000)
End of the fi nancial year 54,600 –

 The summarised fi nancial information of associated companies are as follows:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total assets 206,619 –
Total liabilities (92,421) –
Revenue 14,923 –
Operating profi t 374 –
Profi t for the year 35 –

 The Group has paid RMB39,600,000 and RMB15,000,000 for the acquisition of associated companies, Yangzhou 
Huanzhou Deck Materials Co., Ltd and Shanghai Henggao Ships Designing Co., Ltd respectively. The 
cash consideration paid for these acquisitions is equivalent to the fair value of the Group’s interest in the 
identifi able assets and liabilities of these associated companies.  

 Details of associated companies are provided in Note 44.

26. Trade and bills payables 

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 269,966 116,260
Bills payables 50,000 28,000

319,966 144,260

 Bills payable are bills of exchange with average maturity dates of less than 6 months. (2006: less than 6 
months) 

 The carrying amounts of trade and bills payables approximate their fair values.
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27. Accruals, other payables and other current liabilities

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Due to previous shareholders of subsidiary
 (Note 39) – 106,857 – –
Due to ultimate shareholders (Note 39) 5,225 72,613 5,225 2,953
Profi t sharing scheme (Note 8) 10,014 – 10,014 –
Welfare payable 64,223 34,806 – –
Other tax payable 4,983 7,399 – –
Accrued operating expenses 76,336 42,750 3,673 3,113
Dividends payable to previous shareholders
 of subsidiary (Note 39) – 245,620 – –
Dividends payable to ultimate shareholders
 (Note 39) – 64,249 – –
Payable for purchase of property, plant 
 and equipment 185,814 – – –
Agency fees 7,578 250,302 – –
Other payables 15,065 69,597 5,049 –

369,238 894,193 23,961 6,066

 The amounts due to previous shareholders of subsidiary, ultimate shareholders and agents are unsecured and 
interest-free. 

 The carrying amounts of the accruals, other payables and other current liabilities approximate their fair 
values.

28. Derivative fi nancial instruments

The Group and the Company
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Conversion right (Note 29) – 246

 The Group’s derivatives did not qualify for hedge accounting.

29. Convertible Loans

The Group and 
the Company

2007
RMB’000

Carrying amount of liability at beginning of fi nancial year 155,814
Conversion right (Note 28) 246
Conversion to equity shares (Note 32) (156,060)
Carrying amount of liability at end of fi nancial year –
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29. Convertible Loans (continued)
 

The Group and 
the Company

2006
RMB’000

Principal amount 156,060
Amount classifi ed as derivative (Note 28) (246)
Carrying amount of liability at end of fi nancial year 155,814

 Investment by Strategic Investors and the Conversion

 On 13 June 2006, the Company entered into an investment agreement (the “Investment Agreement”) with 
SEAVI, Asean China Investment Fund L.P. and Gemini Asia Growth Inc. (collectively, the “Strategic 
Investors”) and Ren Yuanlin, Wang Dong, Xiang Jianjun and Ren Jinhua. Under the Investment Agreement, 
the Strategic Investors subscribed for an aggregate of US$20 million of redeemable convertible notes issued 
by the Company. The proceeds from the investment by the Strategic Investors were utilised by the Company 
to fund the Acquisition as described in note 24. The convertible loans are unsecured and repayable within 18 
months or earlier under certain circumstances as described in the Investment Agreement.

 In the event that the Company is not successfully listed on the SGX-ST within 18 months from 13 June 2006, 
compensation costs at a rate of 6% per annum on the principal amount of the convertible loans is payable by 
the Company to the Strategic Investors.

 In the event that the Company qualifi es for an Initial Public Offering but chooses not to do so, compensation 
costs at a rate of 15% per annum on the principal amount of the convertible loans is payable by the Company 
to the Strategic Investors.

 In the event that the Company breaches the Investment Agreement, compensation costs at a rate of 20% per 
annum on the principal amount of the convertible loans is payable by the Company to the Strategic Investors.

 As the fair value of the embedded derivative could not be reliably measured, the fair value of the embedded 
derivative was calculated as the difference between the fair value of the whole instrument and the fair value 
of the host debt. The value of the conversion right of RMB246,000, being the difference between the principal 
amount of the convertible loans of RMB156,060,000 and its present value of RMB155,814,000, discounted at an 
estimated market interest rate of 6%, had been separately accounted as a derivative. (see Note 28). 

 Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution subsequent to year ended 31 December 2006, the Company was 
successfully listed on the SGX-ST, and 128,700,000 ordinary shares were issued pursuant to the conversion 
of the convertible loan, resulting in an increase of RMB156,060,000 in the share capital of the Company and a 
corresponding decrease of RMB156,060,000 in total liabilities for the convertible loans.
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30. Borrowings
 

The Group The Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Current
Long-term bank borrowings 
 - current portion – 190,351 – –
Short-term bank borrowings 28,442 – – –
Loan from ultimate shareholder (Note 39) – 39,015 – 39,015
Total borrowings 28,442 229,366 – 39,015

Representing:
 - unguaranteed 28,442 39,015 – 39,015
 - guaranteed – 190,351 – –
Total borrowings 28,442 229,366 – 39,015

Analysed as follows:
 - wholly repayable within one year 28,442 229,366 – 39,015

 Loan from ultimate shareholder amounting to US$5,000,000 (approximately RMB39,015,000) was interest-free, 
unsecured and been fully repaid as of balance sheet date. 

 Short-term and long-term bank borrowings of the Group are secured over the restricted cash (Note 13).

 (a) The loans were guaranteed by the following third parties:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Guaranteed by:
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd. Nanjing Branch – 90,351
Anhui Technology Import and Export Company – 100,000
Total – 190,351

 (b) Interest rate risk

  The weighted average effective interest rates at the respective balance sheet dates were as follows:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank borrowings
- RMB – 3.33%
- United States Dollar 5.37% 5.43%

  The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate risks are categorised by the earlier of 
contractual repricing dates or maturity dates as follow:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

- Six months or less 3,057 90,351
- Six months to one year 25,385 100,000

28,442 190,351

 The carrying amounts of short-term bank borrowings and current portion of long-term bank borrowings 
approximate their fair values.



70

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. and its Subsidiaries  Annual Report 2007

31. Deferred income tax 

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets (8,610) (5,130)
Deferred tax liabilities 1,168 –

(7,442) (5,130)

 Movements in deferred income tax assets during the year are as follow:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 5,130 –
Credited to income statement 3,480 5,130
As at 31 December 8,610 5,130

 Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefi t through 
the future taxable profi t is probable. The principal components of deferred income tax assets are the provision 
for warranties.

 Movements in deferred income tax liabilities during the year are as follow:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January – 58
Charged directly to equity 1,168 (58)
As at 31 December 1,168 –

 Deferred tax liabilities arise from fair value gains from fi nancial assets, available-for-sale.

 The deferred income tax assets and liabilities are expected to be settled within 12 months. 
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32. Share capital

Number of shares Amount
Authorised 

share 
capital

Issued
share

capital

Authorised 
share 

capital
Share

Capital
Total 

share capital 
S$’000 S$’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Company

2007
Beginning of fi nancial year – 10 – 74,820 74,820
Sub-division – 2,509,990 – – –
Conversion from convertible loans
 (Note 29) – 128,700 – 156,060 156,060
Share issue – 662,197 – 3,218,473 3,218,473
Share issue expenses – – – (147,411) (147,411)
End of fi nancial year – 3,300,897 – 3,301,942 3,301,942

2006
Beginning of fi nancial year 200 –# 1,020 –* 1,020
Effects of Singapore Companies
 (Amendment) Act 2005 (200) – (1,020) – (1,020)
Share issue – 10 – 74,820 74,820
End of fi nancial year – 10 – 74,820 74,820

Group

2007
Beginning of fi nancial year – 10 – 110,037 110,037
Sub-division – 2,509,990 – – –
Conversion from convertible loans
 (Note 29) – 128,700 – 156,060 156,060
Share issue – 662,197 – 3,218,473 3,218,473
Share issue expenses – – – (147,411) (147,411)
End of fi nancial year – 3,300,897 – 3,337,159 3,337,159

2006
Beginning of fi nancial year ^ – – – 110,000 110,000
Adjustment arising from reverse
 acquisition (Note 2.3) – 10 – 37 37
End of fi nancial year – 10 – 110,037 110,037

 # Number of shares less than 1,000.

 * Amount less than RMB1,000.

 ^ Share capital prior to the date of acquisition represented that of Jiangsu Yangzijiang Shipbuilding Co., 
Ltd, the legal subsidiary who is considered the acquirer in connection with the reverse acquisition for 
accounting purposes.

 Under the Singapore Companies (Amendment) Act 2005 that came into effect on 30 January 2006, the concepts 
of par value and authorised share capital were abolished.

 All issued ordinary shares are fully paid.
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32. Share capital (continued)

 On 12 March 2007, the shareholders passed resolutions to approve, among other things, the following:

 (i) the sub-division of every one ordinary share in the share capital of the Company into 251,000 shares;

 (ii) the allotment and issue of 128,700,000 ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company pursuant to 
the conversion of the convertible loans; and

 (iii) the allotment and issue of 662,197,000 ordinary shares at S$0.95 each pursuant to the Company’s Initial 
Public Offering.  

 The newly issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with the previously issued shares.

 As at 31 December 2007, share issue expenses incurred for the listing on the SGX-ST, amounting to 
RMB147,411,000 were charged against the share capital.

33. Other reserve

Statutory
surplus 
reserve

(note (i))

Statutory 
public

welfare 
reserve

(note (i))

Reserve 
fund

(note (ii))

Enterprise 
expansion 

fund
(note (ii))

Fair value 
reserve

Reserve 
on reverse 
acquisition Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance at 1 January 2007 7,675 3,837 63,640 16,502 – (200,689) (109,035)
Fair value gains on
 fi nancial assets,
 available-for-sale – – – – 79,233 – 79,233
Transfer to income
 statement – – – – (76,081) – (76,081)
Profi t appropriation – – 93,701 – – – 93,701
Balance at 
 31 December 2007 7,675 3,837 157,341 16,502 3,152 (200,689) (12,182)

Balance at 1 January 2006 7,675 3,837 16,501 16,502 286 – 44,801
Fair value gains
 on  fi nancial assets,
 available-for-sale – – – – 1,246 – 1,246
Transfer to income
 statement – – – – (1,532) – (1,532)
Adjustment arising from
 reverse acquisition
 (Note 2.3) – – – – – (200,689) (200,689)
Profi t appropriation – – 47,139 – – – 47,139
Balance at 
 31 December 2006 7,675 3,837 63,640 16,502 – (200,689) (109,035)



73

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. and its Subsidiaries  Annual Report 2007

33. Other reserve (continued)

 (i) Statutory surplus reserve and statutory public welfare reserve

  In accordance with the Company Law and the articles of association of the Group’s subsidiaries, the 
subsidiaries shall appropriate 10% of their annual statutory net profi t (after offsetting any prior years’ 
losses) to the statutory surplus reserve account. When the balance of such reserve fund reaches 50% 
of each entity’s share capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus reserve can 
be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital with the appropriate approval.  However, 
except for offsetting prior years’ losses, such statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a 
minimum of 25% of share capital after such usage.

  After JYS became a sino-foreign equity joint venture in May 2004, JYS no longer appropriate net profi t 
to these two reserve account.  The remaining subsidiaries of the Group have not made any statutory 
profi t for appropriation to the above reserves for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007 and 2006.

 (ii) Reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund

  In accordance with the “Law of the PRC on Joint Ventures Using Chinese and Foreign Investment” and 
the Articles of Association of the Group’s subsidiaries, appropriations from net profi t should be made 
to the Reserve Fund and Enterprise Expansion Fund, after offsetting accumulated losses from prior 
years, and before profi t distribution to the investors. The subsidiaries are required to appropriate 5% to 
each of the Reserve Fund and Enterprise Expansion Fund for the year upon the approval of the Board of 
Directors.

  JYS became a wholly foreign invested company pursuant to equity transfer in April 2006. In accordance 
with the “Law of the PRC on Enterprise Operated Exclusively with Foreign Capital” and JYS’s Articles 
of Association, appropriation from net profi t should not be less than 10% of profi t after tax. JYS is 
required to appropriate 10% to reserve fund for the year ended 31 December 2007 upon approval of the 
Board of Directors.  JYS, as a wholly foreign invested company, is no longer required to appropriate 
from its net profi t to the Enterprise Expansion Fund.  The remaining subsidiaries of the Group have not 
made any statutory profi t for appropriation to the above reserves for the year ended 31 December 2007 
and 2006.

34. Dividends

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Ordinary dividends paid 
Interim dividends declared in respect of current year – (731,500)

 A fi nal exempt (one-tier) dividend of SGD1.565 cents per share amounting to approximately S$51,626,000 
(approximately equivalent of RMB262,974,000) has been recommended for the shareholders’ approval at the 
Annual General Meeting on 25 April 2008.  These fi nancial statements do not refl ect this dividend, which will 
be accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in the fi nancial year ending 
31 December 2008.
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35. Financial guarantee contracts

 The Group provided guarantees in respect of loan granted by certain bank to certain companies. These 
companies are the agents and related parties of the Group. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon 
default in loan payments by those companies, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding loan principal 
together with accrued interest and penalty owed by those companies to the bank. The amounts of these 
guarantees as at the respective balance sheet dates are listed as follows:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year – 71,544

 As at the previous year ended 31 December 2006, the Group provided guarantees in respect of loan granted 
by banks to third parties amounted to RMB62,544,000 and to Zhang Jia Gang Yangzi Ship-breaking Co., Ltd, 
the previous shareholder of Jiangsu New Yangzi Shipbuilding Co., Ltd (subsidiary of the Group) amounted to 
RMB9,000,000.

36.  Contingent liabilities

 The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees arising in the ordinary course of business. It is 
not anticipated that any material liabilities will arise from the contingent liabilities. 

 (a)  Guarantees provided to agents for the performance guarantees

  The Group has acted as the guarantor for the agents in respect of performance guarantee provided by 
the bankers to the Company’s customers. The amounts and maturities of these guarantees as at the 
respective balance sheet dates are set out as follows:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 1,805,075 –
1 to 2 years 1,943,349 285,420
2 to 3 years 709,131 379,800
Over 3 years – 549,420

4,457,555 1,214,640

 (b) Performance guarantees

  The Group is contingently liable to its bankers in respect of performance guarantees provided by the 
bankers to the Group’s customers. The amounts and maturities of the guarantees as at the respective 
balance sheet dates are follows:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 2,443,180 393,130
1 to 2 years 2,274,267 842,042
2 to 3 years 2,182,875 473,402
Over 3 years 3,700,547 –

10,600,869 1,708,574
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37. Commitments

 (a) Capital commitments

  Capital expenditure contracted for at balance sheet date but not yet incurred are as follows:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 32,760 347,992

 (b) Letters of credit

  The Group’s bankers issue letters of credit for the import of parts by the Group.  As at 31 December 
2007, RMB112,625,948 (2006: RMB79,927,564) was outstanding under these letters of credit.

 (c) Operating lease commitments - where the Group is a lessee

  The Group leases land use rights and port line use rights under non-cancellable operating lease 
agreements. 

  The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

No later than 1 year 1,871 6,471
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 7,809 11,999
Later than 5 years 3,799 5,501

13,479 23,971

38. Financial risk management 

 Financial risk factors 

 The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise adverse effects from 
the unpredictability of fi nancial markets on the Group’s fi nancial performance. The Group uses fi nancial 
instruments such as short-term currency forwards and foreign currency borrowings to hedge certain fi nancial 
risk exposures.

 The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of fi nancial risk 
management for the Group, including establishing operating guidelines governing the hedging activities of 
the Group, such as authority levels, oversight responsibilities, risk identifi cation and measurement, exposure 
limits and hedging strategies.

 (a) Market risk

  (i) Currency risk

   The Group has shipbuilding contracts with customers around the world and is exposed to 
currency risk arising from US Dollar (“USD”) and Euro Dollar (“EUR”). The Group aims to 
mitigate the currency risk when negotiating the contract price and payment terms of shipbuilding 
contracts.

   The Group will only enter into foreign currency forward contracts, where appropriate, to hedge 
the sales proceeds from shipbuilding contracts denominated in foreign currencies. 



76

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. and its Subsidiaries  Annual Report 2007

38. Financial risk management (continued)

 (a) Market risk (continued)

  (i) Currency risk (continued)

   The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as 
follows:

RMB USD EUR SGD Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
At 31 December 2007
Financial assets
Trade receivables 542,306 – 56,673 – 598,979
Other receivables, prepayment
 and other current assets 3,471,108 438,081 161,398 80,828 4,151,415
Loan receivables from third
 parties 654,000 – – – 654,000
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 104,970 – – – 104,970
Held-to-maturity investment 30,000 – – – 30,000
Restricted cash 1,946,663 39,283 73,567 303,108 2,362,621
Cash and cash equivalents 2,804,922 56,663 32,217 1,544,955 4,438,757

9,553,969 534,027 323,855 1,928,891 12,340,742

Financial liabilities
Borrowings – 28,442 – – 28,442
Trade payables 291,393 28,573 – – 319,966

291,393 57,015 – – 348,408

Net fi nancial assets 9,262,576 477,012 323,855 1,928,891 11,992,334
Less: Net fi nancial assets
 denominated in the
 respective entities’
 functional currency (9,262,576) – – –
Currency exposure – 477,012 323,855 1,928,891

At 31 December 2006
Financial assets
Trade receivables 294,214 – – – 294,214
Other receivables, prepayment
 and other current assets 2,157,932 56,441 15,269 – 2,229,642
Loan receivables from third
 parties 905,570 – – – 905,570
Available-for-sale fi nancial assets 300 – – – 300
Restricted cash 362,278 78,022 7,325 – 447,625
Cash and cash equivalents 185,307 29,735 315 235 215,592

3,905,601 164,198 22,909 235 4,092,943

Financial liabilities
Borrowings 150,000 79,366 – – 229,366
Trade payables 137,022 7,238 – – 144,260

287,022 86,604 – – 373,626

Net fi nancial assets 3,618,579 77,594 22,909 235 3,719,317
Less: Net fi nancial assets
 denominated in the
 respective entities’
 functional currency (3,618,579) – – –
Currency exposure – 77,594 22,909 235
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38. Financial risk management (continued)

 (a) Market risk (continued)

  (i) Currency risk (continued)

   The Company’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as 
follows:

RMB USD EUR SGD Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Company
At 31 December 2007
Financial assets
Other receivables, prepayment
 and other current assets 47,669 188,747 68,093 877,822 1,182,331
Restricted cash – – – 303,108 303,108
Cash and cash equivalents – 27 – 1,544,934 1,544,961

47,669 188,774 68,093 2,725,864 3,030,400

Financial liabilities – – – – –

Net fi nancial assets 47,669 188,774 68,093 2,725,864 3,030,400
Less: Net fi nancial assets
 denominated in the
 respective entities’
 functional currency (47,669) – – –
Currency exposure – 188,774 68,093 2,725,864

At 31 December 2006
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents – 25 – 235 260

Financial liabilities
Borrowings – 39,015 – – 39,015

Net fi nancial (liabilities)/assets – (38,990) – 235 (38,755)
Less: Net fi nancial assets
 denominated in the
 respective entities’
 functional currency – – – –
Currency exposure – (38,990) – 235
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38. Financial risk management (continued)

 (a) Market risk (continued)

  (i) Currency risk (continued)

   If the USD, EUR and SGD change against the RMB by 5% (2006: 5%) respectively with all other 
variables including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising from the net fi nancial assets 
position will be as follows:

2007 2006
Increase/(Decrease)
Profi t

after tax 
and retained 

earnings

Profi t
after tax 

and retained 
earnings

RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
USD against RMB
 - strengthened 20,798 3,391
 - weakened (20,798) (3,391)
EUR against RMB
 - strengthened 14,120 1,001
 - weakened (14,120) (1,001)
SGD against RMB
 - strengthened 84,100 10
 - weakened (84,100) (10)

Company

USD against RMB
 - strengthened 9,412 (1,905)
 - weakened (9,412) 1,905
EUR against RMB
 - strengthened 3,395 –
 - weakened (3,395) –
SGD against RMB
 - strengthened 135,909 12
 - weakened (135,909) (12)

  (ii) Price risk 

   The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments in funds and equity 
securities held by the Group which are classifi ed on the consolidated balance sheet as available-
for-sale fi nancial assets. To manage its price risk arising from investments, the Group selects a 
high grade portfolio of funds and equity securities which are entrusted through qualifi ed banks 
in the PRC. 

   If prices of funds and securities change by 5% with all other variables including tax rate being 
held constant, the impact on profi t after tax and equity will be:

Impact on equity
as at 31 December
2007

RMB’000 
2006

RMB’000

Group
Investments in funds
- increase by 3,925 –
- (decrease) by (3,925) –
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38. Financial risk management (continued)

 (a) Market risk (continued)
 
  (iii) Cash fl ow and fair value interest rate risk 

   The Group’s interest rate risks arise primarily from its cash and cash equivalents and 
borrowings with fi nancial institutions.

   The Group’s policy is to maintain all of its borrowings in fi xed rate instruments. Hence, the 
Group is not exposed to signifi cant cash fl ow interest rate risk. 

   The interest rates and terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed as follows:

Principle Interest rate Due for repayment

Bank borrowings
China Merchants Bank, Suzhou branch 3,059 6.15%  17 June 2008
China Merchants Bank, Suzhou branch 870 5.69%  16 November 2008
China Merchants Bank, Suzhou branch 1,435 5.82%  25 October 2008
China Merchants Bank, Suzhou branch 1,166 5.96%  25 October 2008
Bank of China, Jiangyin branch 21,912 5.29%  28 December 2008

28,442

 (b) Credit risk

  Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
fi nancial loss to the Group. 

  Concentration of credit risk with respect to the trade receivable is limited as the Group adopts the 
policy of dealing customers of appropriate credit history and obtaining suffi cient guaranteed letters of 
credit from registered banks of the customers’ home countries.  The Group also provides guarantees in 
respect of loan granted by banks to third parties and related parties (see Note 35). The Directors are of 
the opinion that the Group has no signifi cant concentrations of credit risk. There is no recent history of 
material default in relation to trade receivable.

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Corporate guarantees provided to banks on subsidiaries’ 
 and third parties’ borrowings – 74,544

  The Group’s major classes of fi nancial assets are bank deposits, trade receivables and entrusted 
loans. The credit risk for trade receivables based on the information provided to key management is as 
follows:

The Group and the Company
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

By geographical areas
Germany 347,739 230,113
Other European counties 71,030 47,619
China 180,210 16,482

598,979 294,214
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38. Financial risk management (continued)

 (b) Credit risk (continued)

  (i)  Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

   Bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits with reputable banks in 
the PRC and Singapore. The Group’s trade receivables are all neither past due nor impaired as 
these amounts are due from customers with a good collection track record with the Group.

  (ii) Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired

   There is no fi nancial assets that is past due and/or impaired. All trade receivables have a good 
collection history because of the progress billing and payments are made by customers in 
accordance with the milestones of the shipbuilding contracts.

 (c)  Liquidity risk

  In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and marketable 
securities to enable them to meet their normal operating commitments as well as an adequate amount 
of credit facilities.

  The table below analyses the maturity profi le of the Group’s and Company’s fi nancial liabilities based 
on contractual undiscounted cash fl ows.

Less than 
1 year

Group
As at 31 December 2007
Bank borrowings 28,442
Trade payables 319,966
Accruals, other payables and other current liabilities 369,238

717,646
As at 31 December 2006
Bank borrowings 229,366
Trade payables 144,260
Accruals, other payables and other current liabilities 894,193

1,267,819

Company
As at 31 December 2007
Accruals, other payables and other current liabilities 23,961

As at 31 December 2006
Bank borrowings 39,015
Accruals, other payables and other current liabilities 6,066

45,081
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38. Financial risk management (continued)

 (d) Capital risk management

  The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. 
In order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of 
dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, buy back issued shares, obtain 
new borrowings or sell assets to reduce borrowings. Consistent with the industry practice, the Group 
monitors capital on the basis of the total liabilities to total assets ratio.

  The Group’s strategy is to maintain a stable total liabilities to total assets ratio. The ratios at 31 
December 2007 and 31 December 2006 were as follows:  

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Total liabilities 10,183,736 4,647,869
Total assets 14,491,308 5,115,548

Debt-to-asset ratio 70.27% 90.86%

  The Group and the Company are in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements for the 
fi nancial years ended 31 December 2006 and 2007.
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39. Related party transactions
 
 In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the fi nancial statements, the transactions took place 

between the Group and related parties, at terms agreed between the parties:

 (a) Related party transactions

  The Group had the following signifi cant transactions with the following related parties.

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Transactions with ultimate shareholders of the Company
The Company obtaining loans and advances from
 Ren Jinhua – 19,765
 Ren Yuanlin – 34,792
 Wang Dong – 2,829
 Xiang Jianjun – 2,402
 Cai Zhengshun – 2,185
 Huang Jialu – 2,178
 Su Pinhua – 2,024
 Gao Qiang – 1,745
 Yu Weiping – 1,741
 Lido Point Investments Ltd – 41,968

The Company repaying loan to
 Lido Point Investments Ltd 38,646 –

The Company repaying advances to
 Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd 212 –
 Lido Point Investments Ltd 2,925 –

Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd making payment on behalf of 
 the Company 5,225 –

Transactions between JYS, a subsidiary and Jiangsu Runhua 
 Technology Investment Co., Ltd, previous shareholder of JYS
JYS giving an entrusted loan to
 Jiangsu Runhua Technology Investment Co., Ltd – 30,000

JYS earning interest income from
 Jiangsu Runhua Technology Investment Co., Ltd – 1,049

JYS making an advance to
 Jiangsu Runhua Technology Investment Co., Ltd – 6,762

Transactions between a subsidiary and an associated company
Loan from SEAVI
 to Yangzhou Huanzhou Deck Materials Co., Ltd 80,828 –

Service provided by the following related parties to subsidiaries 
Ship designing services - Shanghai Henggao Ships Designing 
 Co., Ltd (an associated company) 5,420 –
Other shipping services - Tongbao (Shanghai) Shipping Co., Ltd.
 (a company owned by one of the ultimate shareholders) – 34
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39. Related party transactions (continued)

 (b) Related party balances

  As at 31 December 2007, the Group had the following balances with related parties:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balances with ultimate shareholders of the Company
Other payables (Note 27)
 Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd 5,225 –
 Lido Point Investments Ltd – 2,953
 Ren Jinhua – 19,765
 Ren Yuanlin – 34,791
 Wang Dong – 2,829
 Xiang Jianjun – 2,402
 Cai Zhengshun – 2,185
 Huang Jialu – 2,178
 Su Pinhua – 2,024
 Gao Qiang – 1,745
 Yu Weiping – 1,741

5,225 72,613
Borrowings (Note 30)
 Lido Point Investments Ltd – 39,015

Dividends payable (Note 27)
 Ren Yuanlin – 44,800
 Wang Dong – 3,640
 Xiang Jianjun – 3,094
 Cai Zhengshun – 2,814
 Huang Jialu – 2,805
 Su Pinhua – 2,606
 Gao Qiang – 2,247
 Yu Weiping – 2,243

– 64,249

Other receivables (Note 17)
 Lido Point Investments Ltd 4 –
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39. Related party transactions (continued)

 (b) Related party balances (continued)

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Balance with previous shareholders of JYS
Other payables, accruals and other current liabilities 
 The Labour Union of the Company (Note 27) – 106,857

Dividends payable to (Note 27)
 Jiangyin Runhua Technology Investment Co., Ltd. – 22,560
 Tongbao (Hongkong) Shipping Co., Ltd. – 84,000
 The Labour Union of the Company – 139,060

– 245,620

Balances with associated companies
Loan extended to (Note 17)
Yangzhou Huanzhou Deck Materials Co., Ltd 80,828 –

Accounts and bills payable
 Shanghai Henggao Ships Designing Co., Ltd 1,980 –

Balances with other related parties
Other receivables (Note 17)
 Jiangyin Liantong Industry Co., Ltd. (a company owned by a previous
  shareholder and a minority shareholder of JNYS) – 7,050

 (c) Key management personnel compensation 

  Key Management personnel compensation is analysed as follow:

The Group
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Directors 
 Basic salaries 75 69
 Director fees 420 –
 Contributions to pension plans 84 74
 Discretionary bonuses 185 161
Senior management
 Basic salaries 261 193
 Contributions to pension plans 290 203
 Discretionary bonuses 639 437
Profi t sharing scheme (see Note 8) 10,014 –

11,968 1,137



Corporate Governance Statement

27Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. and its Subsidiaries  Annual Report 2007

(H)  SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
 (Rule 1207(18) of the SGX-ST)

 The Group has adopted an internal code (the “Internal Code”) on securities trading which provides guidance 
and internal regulation with regard to dealings in the Group’s securities by its Directors and employees. The 
Internal Code is modelled after SGX-ST’s Listing Rules on best practices on dealings in the Company’s 
securities. The Internal Code prohibits the Directors and employees from dealing in listed securities of the 
Company on short-term considerations or while in possession of unpublished material or price-sensitive 
information. The Directors and employees are not allowed to deal in the Company securities during the 
period commencing two weeks before the date of announcement of its quarterly results and one month 
before the date of announcement of the half-year and full-year fi nancial results and ending on the date of the 
announcement of the relevant results.

 The Company has complied with SGX-ST’s Listing Rules on best practices on dealing in the Company’s 
securities in the fi nancial year ended 2007.

(I) CORPORATE DISCLOSURE

 The Company believes that a high level of disclosure is essential to enhance the standard of corporate 
governance. Hence, the Company is committed to provide a high level of disclosure in all public 
announcements, press releases and annual reports. 
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40. Segment information 

 (a) Primary reporting format - business segments 

Shipbuilding

Entrusted 
loans and 
loans to

third parties Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
For the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007

Revenue 3,855,494 64,645 3,920,139

Segment result 885,253 64,645 949,898
Other income 56,778
Other gains - net 101,766
Unallocated costs (117,898)
Finance costs - net (128)
Profi t before income tax 990,416
Income tax expense (130,713)
Net profi t 859,703

Other segment items
Capital expenditure:
- property, plant and equipment 605,725 – 605,725
- lease prepayments 107,416 – 107,416
- intangible assets 458 – 458
Depreciation 34,839 – 34,839

Segment assets 12,035,292 654,000 12,689,292
Unallocated assets 1,802,016
Total assets 14,491,308

Segment liabilities 10,041,877 – 10,041,877
Unallocated liabilities 141,859
Total liabilities 10,183,736
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40. Segment information 

 (a) Primary reporting format - business segments (continued)

Shipbuilding

Entrusted 
loans and 
loans to

third parties Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Group
For the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2006

Revenue 2,324,984 68,390 2,393,374

Segment result 496,451 68,390 564,841
Other income 7,429
Other gains - net 14,927
Unallocated costs (57,794)
Finance expense (10,538)
Profi t before income tax 518,865
Income tax expense (65,650)
Net profi t 453,215

Other segment items
Capital expenditure:
- property, plant and equipment 535,565 – 535,565
- lease prepayments 142,483 – 142,483
- intangible assets 168 – 168
Depreciation 17,086 – 17,086
Amortisation 1,545 – 1,545

Segment assets 3,864,004 905,570 4,769,574
Unallocated assets 345,974
Total assets 5,115,548

Segment liabilities 3,532,522 – 3,532,522
Unallocated liabilities 1,115,347
Total liabilities 4,647,869

  For the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007 and 2006, the Group is organised into two main business 
segments:

  (i) Shipbuilding
  (ii) Entrusted loans and loans to third parties

  Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses. Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant 
and equipment, lease prepayments, intangible assets, inventories, trade and bills receivables, advances 
to agents and suppliers, due from customers for construction contracts, loan receivables from third 
parties and cash, and exclude other receivables, deferred tax assets, cash held by the Company with 
no specifi c assignment, and other investments. Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and 
exclude items such as tax liabilities, bank borrowings, convertible loans. Capital expenditure comprises 
additions to property, plant and equipment, lease prepayment and intangible assets, including those 
acquired through business combinations.
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40. Segment information (continued)

 (b) Secondary reporting format - geographical segments 

  The Group’s sales, based on the customers’ location, are mainly in countries such as Germany, China, 
Singapore and other European countries:

Year ended 31 December
2007 2006

RMB’000 RMB’000

Germany 2,884,210 1,662,321
Other European Counties 626,119 260,748
China 345,165 169,068
Singapore – 232,847

3,855,494 2,324,984

  The Group’s assets are located in the PRC.

41. Events occurring after balance sheet date

 (a) Subsequent to balance sheet date, SEAVI, a subsidiary of the Group, has transferred its 0.97% equity 
interests in JNYS, a subsidiary of the Group, to Yitian Investment Pte Ltd (“Yitian”), a minority 
shareholder of JNYS.  The consideration paid by Yitian to SEAVI is RMB6.0 million.  Upon the 
completion of the transfer on the 12 March 2008, the Group’s aggregated shareholding in JNYS reduced 
from 76.16% to 75.19%.

  The difference between the RMB6.0 million consideration received and the amount of adjustment to 
minority interest (approximately RMB5.0 million) will be brought to equity.

  The disposal of 0.97% equity interests in JNYS to Yitian is carried out in connection with the 
subsequent acquisition of 24.81% equity in JNYS from Hong Kong Hengyuan Investment Limited 
(“HKHI”) in Note 24 and Note 41 (c) below. Yitian is a wholly owned subsidiary of HKHI.

 (b) On 13 March 2008, JYS, a subsidiary of the Group has divested its entire 80% interests in Jiangsu 
Zhongzhou Marine Equipment Co., Ltd (“JZME”), a subsidiary of the Group, to Jingjiang City Dunfeng 
Ship Dismantle Co., Ltd (“JCDS”), a minority shareholder of JZME, and Nantong Van Industries Co., 
Ltd (“NVIC”), a third party.  The consideration received from JCDS and NVIC is RMB34.7 million and 
RMB19.8 million respectively.

  The total consideration of RMB54.5 million is equivalent to the identifi able net asset of JZME disposed.

 (c) On 28 March 2008, the Company has further entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement 
with HKHI, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, SAR to benefi cially acquire a 24.81% equity interest 
in the registered capital of JNYS.

  The total consideration payable by the Company for the acquisition is RMB2,626,932,420 (approximately 
S$517,673,154), consisting of the issuance of 352,625,000 new ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company amounting to approximately S$301,273,985 based on a consideration value of S$0.854375 per 
Share and S$216,399,169 in cash.

  The difference between the total consideration and the amount of adjustment to minority interest 
(approximately RMB2,498 million) will be brought to equity.

  After the completion of the Acquisition, the Company shall benefi cially hold 100% of the total equity 
interest in the registered capital of JNYS, through SEAVI’s 24.03% interests in JNYS and JYS’s 51.16% 
equity interests in JNYS and its own direct 24.81% equity interests in JNYS.
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42. New accounting standards and FRS interpretations

 Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and 
are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 or later periods and 
which the Group has not early adopted.  The Group’s assessment of the impact of adopting those standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are relevant to the Group is set out below:

 (a) FRS 108 Operating Segments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)  

  FRS 108 supersedes FRS 14 Segment Reporting and requires the Group to report the financial 
performance of its operating segments based on the information used internally by management for 
evaluating segment performance and deciding on allocation of resources. Such information may be 
different from the information included in the fi nancial statements, and the basis of its preparation and 
reconciliation to the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements shall be disclosed.

  The Group will apply FRS 108 from 1 January 2009 and provide comparative information that conforms 
to the requirements of FRS 108.  The Group expects the new operating segments to be signifi cantly 
different from business segments currently disclosed and expects more information to be disclosed 
under FRS 108.

 (b)  Revised FRS 23 Borrowing Costs (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009) 

  The revised standard removes the option to recognise immediately as an expense borrowing costs 
that are attributable to qualifying assets, except for those borrowing costs on qualifying assets that 
are measured at fair value or inventories that are manufactured or produced in large quantities on a 
repetitive basis.

  The Group will apply the revised FRS 23 from 1 January 2009.  As the Group has been capitalising the 
relevant borrowing costs, the revised standard is not expected to have any impact to the Group.  

  Interpretation that is not yet effective and not relevant for the Group’s operations

 (c) INT FRS 112 Service Concession Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2008)

  INT FRS 112 addresses how operators shall account for rights and obligations arising from service 
concession arrangements, where control of the assets remains in public hands but the operator 
is responsible for construction activities, as well as for operating and maintaining the public sector 
infrastructure.  As none of the group entities are operators of such arrangements, INT FRS 112 is not 
relevant to the Group.

43. Authorisation of fi nancial statements

 These fi nancial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors 
of  Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd., passed on 31 March 2008.
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44. Listing of signifi cant companies in the Group

Name
Place and date 

of establishment
Paid-in capital 

(RMB’000)
Attributable 

equity interests Principal activities
2007 2006 2007 2006

Subsidiaries 
Jiangsu Yangzijiang
 Shipbuilding Co., 
 Ltd (1)

 Jiangyin 
 the PRC,
 22 December
 1999

622,600 110,000 100% 100% Building, repair, 
dismantling of vessels with 
tonnage of 55,000 tons or 
less; 

Production and 
processing of large scale 
steel structures, belt 
transportation machinery; 

Production of oxygen and 
nitrogen; 

Sale and provision of 
technical consultancy 
services and after sales 
service with regards to 
products produced by the 
company.

Jiangsu New Yangzi
 Shipbuilding Co., 
 Ltd. (1)

 Jingjiang 
 the PRC,
 12 May 2005

518,000 518,000 76.16% 50.19% Ship manufacturing, 
maintenance and breaking; 

Large-scale steel structure 
products processing and 
manufacturing; 

Sale of self-manufactured 
products and after-sale 
service; 

Import & Export business 
for various merchandise 
and technologies.

SEAVI Advert Asia
 Investments (III) 
 Ltd (2)

 Virgin Islands
 British,
 24 May 2006

N.M – 100% – Investment holding

Jiangsu Runzhou 
 Ship Accessories
 Co., Ltd (3)

 Jiangyin
 the PRC,
 27 November 2006

180,000 – 100% – Manufacturing of ship 
accessories

Jiangyin Yangchuan
 Labour Supply 
 Co., Ltd (1)

 Jiangsu
 the PRC,
 30 October 2007

1,000 – 97.62% – Labour subcontractor to 
supply labour to the ship 
builder

Jiangsu Tianyuan 
 Ships Import and 
 Export Co., Ltd (1)

 Jiangsu
 the PRC,
 15 February 2007

10,000 – 90% – Facilitating the sale and 
export of ships to the ship 
builder

Jiangsu Zhongzhou
 Marine Equipment
 Co., Ltd (1)

 Jiangsu
 the PRC,
 6 November 2007

68,000 – 80% – Manufacture base to 
construct big vessel 
components and 
accessories
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44. Listing of signifi cant companies in the Group

Name
Place and date of 

establishment
Paid-in capital 

(RMB’000)
Attributable 

equity interests Principal activities
2007 2006 2007 2006

Associated companies
Yangzhou Huanzhou
 Deck Materials
 Co., Ltd (3)

 Yangzhou
 the PRC,
 29 May 2007

99,000 – 40% – Producing special steel

Shanghai Henggao 
 Ships Designing 
 Co., Ltd (4)

 Shanghai
 the PRC,
 28 February 2005

15,000 – 60% – Engaging in the design and 
conceptual development 
for a wide range of 
merchant ships

 (1) Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company for purposes of preparation of consolidated 
fi nancial statements.

 (2) Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation.

 (3) Reviewed by PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company for purposes of preparation of 
consolidated fi nancial statements.

 (4) Not consolidated as the entity is not controlled by the Group and deemed to be an associated company as the Group 
has signifi cant infl uence over the entity.

 N.M Not material for disclosure purpose.
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Issued and fully paid-shares capital :  S$674,357,571 (RMB3,337,159)
Class of shares : Ordinary Shares
Voting per share : One vote per share 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
NO. OF

SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 – 999 10 0.03 2,783 0.00
1,000 – 10,000 22,588 71.60 121,291,904 3.67
10,001 – 1,000,000 8,921 28.28 340,990,652 10.33
1,000,001 AND ABOVE 28 0.09 2,838,611,661 86.00
TOTAL : 31,547 100.00 3,300,897,000 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

NO. NAME NO. OF SHARES %

1. DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD          2,338,110,140 70.83
2. HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 119,242,803 3.61
3. CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD  106,408,526 3.22
4. UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD          46,484,000 1.41
5. RAFFLES NOMINEES PTE LTD      39,073,040 1.18
6. DBSN SERVICES PTE LTD         32,682,000 0.99
7. UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 24,941,310 0.76
8. OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD   19,853,437 0.60
9. CIMB-GK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.  19,761,539 0.60

10. DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD  16,253,490 0.49
11. MORGAN STANLEY ASIA (SINGAPORE) SECURITIES PTE LTD 13,407,000 0.41
12. PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD    12,473,421 0.38
13. DB NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD       8,190,790 0.25
14. KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.  6,943,000 0.21
15. BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD    5,482,000 0.17
16. OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD       4,674,000 0.14
17. MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD    3,912,716 0.12
18. HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PTE LTD 2,832,000 0.09
19. HL BANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD  2,687,000 0.08
20. CITIBANK CONSUMER NOMINEES PTE LTD 2,674,000 0.08
 TOTAL : 2,826,086,212 85.62
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

 
Number of 

Shares %
Number of 

Shares %

Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd 883,668,000 26.77 – –
Almond Beach Resources Corporation 184,086,000 5.58 – –
Lido Point Investments Ltd. 510,466,000 15.46 – –
Ren Yuanlin 300,000 0.01 1,067,754,000 32.35(1)

Xiang Jianjun – – 883,668,000 26.77(2)

Ren Jinhua 1,000,000 0.03 184,086,000 5.58(3)

Wang Dong – – 510,466,000 15.46(4)

Yu Kebing – – 510,466,000 15.46(5)

Notes:

(1) Mr Ren Yuanlin is deemed interest in the 883,668,000 shares held by Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd and 184,086,000 shares 
held by Almond Beach Resources Corporation. 

(2) Mr Xiang Jianjun is deemed interest in the 883,668,000 shares held by Newyard Worldwide Holdings Ltd. 

(3) Mr Ren Jinhua is deemed interest in the 184,084,000 shares held by Almond Beach Resources Corporation. 

(4) Mr Wang Dong is deemed interest in the 510,466,000 shares held by Lido Point Investments Ltd.

(5) Mr Yu Kebing is deemed interest in the 510,466,000 shares held by Lido Point Investments Ltd. 

SHAREHOLDING HELD IN PUBLIC HANDS

Approximately 38.46% of the shareholding of the Company is held in the hands of the public as at 10 March 2008 and 
Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied with.
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YANGZIJIANG SHIPBUILDING (HOLDINGS) LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

(Company Registration Number: 200517636Z)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Meeting Room 
202, Level 2, Suntec Singapore International Convention and Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffl es Boulevard Suntec City, 
Singapore 039593, on 25 April 2008 at 2.00 p.m., for the purpose of transacting the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the fi nancial year 
ended 31 December 2007 and the Directors’ Reports and the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Resolution 1

2. To declare a tax exempt (one tier) fi rst and fi nal dividend of 1.565 cents per ordinary share in 
respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007.

Resolution 2

3. To approve Directors’ fees of S$70,000 for fi nancial year ended 31 December 2007. (2006: 
S$Nil)

Resolution 3

4. To re-elect the following Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 94 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association:

(i) Mr Wang Dong (See Explanatory Note)
(ii) Mr Teo Moh Gin (See Explanatory Note)

Resolution 4(i)
Resolution 4(ii)

5. To re-appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers as Auditors and to authorise the Directors 
to fi x their remuneration.

Resolution 5

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass, with or without modifi cations, the following Ordinary 
Resolution:

6. THAT, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the listing rules of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors of the Company be authorised 
to issue shares in the Company (whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise, and including 
the issue of shares pursuant to offers, agreements or options made or granted by the 
Company while the authority remains in force) at any time to such persons and upon such 
terms and conditions for such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute discretion 
deem fi t, whether with or without fi rst offering such shares to the members of the Company, 
provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution does 
not exceed fi fty percent (50%) (or such other limit as may be prescribed by the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited) of the issued share capital of the Company (excluding 
treasury shares) at the time of passing of this resolution, of which the number of shares to 
be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders of the Company does not exceed 
twenty percent (20%) (or such other limit as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited) of the issued share capital of the Company excluding treasury 
shares, and, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such authority 
shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company or the date by which the Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by 
law to be held, whichever is the earlier. (See Explanatory Note)

Resolution 6
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OTHER BUSINESS

7. To transact any other business.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

MARIAN HO WUI MEE/CHEW BEE LENG
Joint Company Secretaries

9 April 2008

Explanatory Notes:

Resolution 4(i)

Mr Wang Dong is an Executive Director of the Company.

Resolution 4(ii)

Mr Teo Moh Gin, Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nominating Committee and of the Remuneration 
Committee, will continue to serve in these capacities if re-elected as a Director of the Company. Mr Teo is an Independent Director.

Resolution 6

The Ordinary Resolution no. 6, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to issue shares in the capital of the Company 
up to an amount not exceeding in aggregate fi fty percent (50%) of the issued share capital of the Company (excluding treasury 
shares) at the time of the passing of this resolution, of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro-rata 
basis to shareholders of the Company does not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the issued share capital of the Company excluding 
treasury shares.

Notes:

(1) A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the above-mentioned meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend 
and vote in his stead.   Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholdings to 
be represented by each proxy. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

(2) The instrument appointing the proxy must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the Company at 80 Raffl es Place #32-01 
UOB Plaza 1 Singapore 048624, not less that 48 hours before the time set for holding the meeting.



YANGZIJIANG SHIPBUILDING (HOLDINGS) LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration Number: 200517636Z)

PROXY FORM – ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

I/We 
  
of 
  
being a member/members of YANGZIJIANG SHIPBUILDING (HOLDINGS) LTD. (the “Company”) hereby appoint

Name Address NRIC/Passport 
No.

Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

and/or failing him/her (delete as appropriate)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company as my/our proxy/proxies 
to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the AGM of the Company to 
be held at Meeting Room 202, Level 2, Suntec Singapore International Convention and Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffl es 
Boulevard Suntec City, Singapore 039593, on Friday, 25 April 2008 at 2.00 p.m., and at any adjournment thereof.

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the 
resolutions as set out in the Notice of the AGM.  In the absence of specifi c directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or 
abstain as he/they may think fi t, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the AGM).

Ordinary Resolutions To be used on a show
of hands

To be used in the event
of a poll

For * Against* No. of votes 
for**

No. of votes 
against**

1 To receive and adopt the Audited FinanciaStatements, 
Directors’ Reports and Auditors’ Report 

2 To declare a fi nal tax exempt (one tier) dividend

3 To approve Directors’ fees of S$70,000

4(i) To re-elect Mr Wang Dong as a Director

4(ii) To re-elect Mr Teo Moh Gin as a Director

5 To appoint Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers as 
Auditors and authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration

6 To authorise the Directors to allot/issue shares

* Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” within the box provided.
** If you wish to use all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate with an “X” within the box provided.  Otherwise please 

indicate the number of votes. 

Dated this  day of  2008

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members

IMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy 

Yangzijiang Shipbuilding (Holdings) Ltd. shares, the 
Circular is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF 
Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION 
ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and 
shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or 
purported to be used by them.



Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register 
(as defi ned in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50), you should insert that number. If you have shares registered in 
your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number. If you have shares entered against 
your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the 
aggregate number. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2. A member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend 
and vote on his behalf. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholdings to 
be represented by each proxy. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered offi ce at 80 Raffl es Place #32-01 
UOB Plaza 1 Singapore 048624, not less than 48 hours before the time set for the meeting.

4. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by 
each proxy. If no such proportion or number is specifi ed the fi rst named proxy may be treated as representing 100% of the 
shareholding and any second named proxy as an alternate to the fi rst named.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where the 
instrument appointing a proxy is executed by a corporation, it must be either under its seal or under the hand of any offi cer or 
attorney duly authorised.

6. Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney 
(or other authority) or a duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the 
instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks 
fi t to act as its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50.

8. The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument of proxy which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where 
the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed on the instrument 
of proxy. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject an instrument of proxy 
if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 
hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, as certifi ed by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

GENERAL

The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true 
intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specifi ed on the Proxy Form.  In addition, in 
the case of Shares entered on the Depository Register, the Company may reject a Proxy Form if the member, being the appointor, is 
not shown to have Shares entered against his name on the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding 
the meeting, as certifi ed by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.






